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About Us
Our History

Our Values

The Northern Ireland Council for the
Curriculum, Examinations and Assessment
(CCEA) was established on 1 April 1994 under
the Educational and Libraries (Northern
Ireland) Order 1993. It replaced the Northern
Ireland Curriculum Council (NICC) and the
Northern Ireland Schools Examinations and
Assessment Council (NISEAC).

Integrity – We ensure staff are open and
honest, tell the truth, play by the rules and do
not knowingly do anything wrong.

CCEA is a non-departmental public body
(NDPB) that reports to the Department of
Education (DE).

Social Responsibility – We go beyond our
statutory remit in respect of our investment in
our staff and the contribution we make to the
community.

Our Mission
We place learners and those who have a
concern for their educational and personal
development at the forefront of our thinking.
Our mission is:
“To enable the full potential of all learners to be
achieved and recognised”

Quality and Excellence – We work to deliver
the very best products and services to
customers, partners and stakeholders and
seek ways to continually improve.

Leadership – We demonstrate exemplary
leadership that includes leading the
community debate on educational policy
and promoting, through example, the seven
principles of public life as set out by the Nolan
Committee.

Advising Government – on what should be
taught in Northern Ireland’s nurseries, schools
and colleges.

People – We treat all of our people with
respect, recruit, reward and promote staff
on the basis of merit, provide good working
conditions and help our staff to achieve a
work/life balance.

Monitoring Standards – to ensure that the
qualifications and examinations offered by
awarding bodies in Northern Ireland are of an
appropriate quality and standard.

Customers, Partners and Stakeholders – We
meet our customers’ needs and expectations,
keep our promises, secure full customer trust
and put things right when they go wrong.

Our Role

Awarding Qualifications – as Northern Ireland’s
leading awarding body, we offer a diverse range
of qualifications, such as GCSEs, GCE A and
AS levels, Entry Level qualifications, Graded
Objectives in Modern Languages, and a range
of vocational qualifications including Key Skills,
Essential Skills, and Occupational Studies.
Supporting Schools – by informing them about
curriculum, examination and assessment
issues, providing them with teaching and
learning materials, and developing educational
technology and producing multimedia resources
for classroom use.

We work to deliver the
very best products and
services
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Our Council
Members of our Council are appointed by the
Department of Education (DE). It includes
representatives from education, industry and
commerce.
Under the original arrangements for the
Review of Public Administration (RPA) in the
education sector, CCEA’s functions were to
transfer to the Education and Skills Authority
(ESA) from 1 January 2010. As a result, the
Council for CCEA was due to stand down on
31 December 2009.
However, with the delay in ESA’s formation,
the Minister introduced interim governance
arrangements. For us, this meant a Council
consisting of the Chairperson plus nine
members – the smallest size allowed under
our founding legislation. The Chairperson’s
appointment is until the formation of ESA.
However, as the other Council members’
appointments expired on 31 December 2009,
it was necessary to fill the remaining nine
places.
To minimise disruption to the organisation,
DE asked existing Council members for
expressions of interest before extending
the terms of appointment of nine existing
members. The new Council will be
responsible for the governance of CCEA until
the formation of ESA.

Membership as at 31 March 2010

Chairperson
David McKee
Former Principal of Duke of Westminster
High School, Kesh and Ballinamallard

Council Members

Mrs Helen McClenaghan
(Deputy Chairperson)
Former Chief Executive of the
Southern Education and Library Board

Mr James Collins
(Chair – Finance Committee)
Former General Manager with
Ford Motor Company
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Mrs Patricia O’Farrell
(Chair – Audit & Risk Committee)
Former Chair of the Irish
National Teachers’ Organisation
(INTO)

Mr John Wilkinson
Principal of Dromore High
School

Miss Mae Watson
Vice Principal (Registrar),
Stranmillis University College,
Belfast

Council Members
Who Served from
April–December 2009
Mrs Carmel McKinney
Principal of Vere Foster Primary
School, Belfast

Mr David Thompson
Former Principal of Regent
House School, Newtownards

Ms Michele Crilly
Former Director of Education,
School of Education, Queen’s
University, Belfast

Mr Martin Bowen
Principal of St Peter’s High School
Dr Martin Brown
Educational consultant and writer
Mr Neil Downing
Principal of Cookstown Primary
School

Mr Jim Clarke
Deputy Chief Executive for the
Council for Catholic Maintained
Schools

Mrs Dorothy Black
Lecturer, Initial Teacher
Education at University of
Ulster, Coleraine

3

4

Northern Ireland Council for the Curriculum,
Examinations and Assessment
Annual Report and Accounts 2009/10

Chair’s Foreword
A few months ago, very few of us believed that there would be
a CCEA Annual Report for 2009/10. The legislative impasse
that has slowed the implementation of the Education and Skills
Authority (ESA) has meant that we must continue to maintain
CCEA’s aims and objectives and ready ourselves for a new
education world.
Since January, the Minister has streamlined all the education
organisations. However, we continue to await developments
in the political world that controls us. One reality of this has
been that the Council was reduced from 16 members to nine members, with a consequent
drop in the number of sub-committees. We, therefore, seek new ways to achieve the work
we are responsible for and to maintain our standards at the highest level. In our new
circumstances, it is important that we analyse and evaluate the work we do, regarding
self-examination as a strength. Council believes that this pushes us to give of our best. In
carrying this belief through, we will honour our undertaking to the young learners who have
given us their trust.
Our new Council is made up of people who served on the previous Council, and their breadth
of experience adds to the decision-making abilities of this voluntary governing body. I firmly
believe that the commitment and professionalism they exhibit is mirrored throughout the
organisation by all staff – both full time and part time.
As we face the year ahead with all its uncertainties, it is vital that we maintain the focus of
our role, which is to advise government, monitor standards and award qualifications.

David McKee
Chair CCEA

The organisation
continues to innovate
and develop
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Chief Executive’s Foreword
For the past year, media attention has focused primarily on the
future Education and Skills Authority (ESA) and the controversial
debate about primary to post-primary transfer arrangements.
The concentration on these two issues has diverted attention
away from a much wider range of issues and developments in
education, all of which profoundly impact CCEA’s work.
Uncertainty in the education sector prior to ESA’s establishment
has imposed significant pressures on us as we’ve delivered our
2009/10 work programme. Vacancy control (which has restricted
recruitment for permanent posts since November 2006) has had a dramatic impact on our
structures and staffing. Looking across the whole organisation, we are now operating with
56% of our staff employed on fixed-term contracts, 56% of our manager posts filled by staff
who are acting up from more junior positions, and 8% of our posts vacant at any point in
time. These unprecedented circumstances place considerable demands on dedicated staff.
However, we have proved our resilience by responding to the challenges brought by change,
and we continue to deliver top-quality services to our customers and stakeholders.
The organisation continues to innovate and develop. A sample of the important
work we’ve completed during this past year and have planned for the coming year
is set out on pages 6–20.
The major projects we completed during 2009/10 include:
• the roll out of our portfolio of revised GCE and GCSE specifications;
• the launch of major new programmes to support science, technology, engineering and
mathematics (STEM), Financial Capability and Irish Medium in schools; and
• an investment in technology to reduce administrative burden on centres, offer new
services to centres, and communicate with learners in the media formats they enjoy
using and respond to best.
In addition, we continue to:
• deliver successful examinations and assessment services for centres and candidates;
• provide best-in-class resources to schools;
• support schools with innovative and robust teaching and assessment tools; and
• recognise the ability and success of our learners through events such as True Colours,
Score, Celebrating Excellence and Celebrating Achievement.
Regardless of any future changes in structure within education, our staff will
continue to perform at the highest level and focus on the needs of those we serve.

Neil Anderson
Acting Chief Executive
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2009/10 Snapshot
Investing in Success
£31.3m spent on...

50%
Qualifications
£15.6m

20%

30%

Curriculum
& Assessment
£6.3m

Corporate Services
£9.4m

Published Support

Funding

Over 400 materials published to
support the curriculum
Over 200 materials published to
support examinations

£31.3m

200
DE Funding

£21.9m

70%

£9.4m

30%

Earned Income

Our Entries per market
Northern Ireland

371,849

90%

England & Wales

39,483

10%

400
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Vacancy Control

7

GCSE Market Share
WJEC
Edexcel
OCR
AQA
CCEA
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80 +

%

55% Fixed-term
37% Permanent
8% Current Vacancies

08/09

Our Followers

Web hits increased dramatically
across all of our sites
1000

ccea.org.uk

591,896 921,609

nicurriculum.org.uk

142,740 204,610

esani.org.uk
www.ccea.org.uk
55.7% Increase

800

600

0
08/09

33,251

66,024

Top 10 Subject Microsites by Hits
English Literature

16k+

ICT		

16k+

Mathematics

14k+

Business Studies

9k+

French		

7k+

Moving Image Arts

6k+

Biology		

6k+

www.nicurriculum.org.uk
43.35% Increase

English		

6k+

www.esani.org.uk
98.56% Increase

Geography

5k+

Chemistry

5k+

400

200

09/10

09/10
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2009/10 Snapshot
April 2009
InCAS Road Show

We begin three months of faceto-face training with primary
teachers

June 2009

Flexible GCSE LLW

Teachers receive our new,
modular GCSE LLW

2009

8

80,000

Students sit our summer exams

International Exchange

The Turkish Ministry of National
Education visits to exchange best
practice in delivering vocational
qualifications

Powering Down

Our Clarendon Building receives a
B grading for energy efficiency

July 2009
May 2009

500+

examination papers authored
for the year’s series

Over 700,000

scripts marked for the summer exams
series

200,000

Subject awards are delivered to
students
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August 2009
Online Results Premier

We provide 2,340 A2 students
with detailed exam results
online for the first time

February 2010

2010

Entitlement Framework

Consultation with industry and
stakeholders begins as we
start developing new applied
qualifications

October 2009
March 2010

£20k

CCEA staff raise £20k for War on Want

STEM

100,000

Pupils in Years 4–7 sit InCAS assessments

Learning materials on farming, wind,
water, textiles and engineering are
delivered to Key Stage 2 schools

Standards to Emulate

Learning for Life and Work

The Botswana Examinations Council visits
us to explore our quality management
systems

We publish three new cross-curricular
units for primary schools

Nearly 1 million

people visit www.ccea.org.uk
during the year

Talk about Money

We co-host Ireland’s first Financial
Capability conference and 200 teachers
attend

Irish Medium

The Minister launches Féasta Focal,
our learning and teaching resource for
primary schools

9
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The Year in Brief
Throughout the reporting period, we worked diligently to produce informative
and innovative support materials for teachers, learners and administrators. We
produced over 400 publications to support the curriculum, including teaching
and learning materials, guidance documents and courses for professional
development. In support of our qualifications, we produced over 200 publications to
aid candidates. This excludes the multitude of examination papers, coursework and
controlled assessment materials we publish each year.
Below is a brief summary of just some of our products and services from 2009/10.

Examination Papers
and Processing
One of our top priorities is to ensure that the
learners of Northern Ireland benefit from
high-quality examinations that offer suitable
challenge and allow them to demonstrate
their knowledge and understanding.
Once again, this year’s examinations
were conducted in a safe, reliable and
professional manner. We authored over 500
examination papers for our qualifications.
We also processed over 700,000 scripts and
delivered almost 200,000 subject awards
to the 80,000 candidates who sat our main
summer series.

STEM (Science,
Technology,
Engineering and Maths)
In late winter we provided Key Stage 2
teachers with guidance on how STEM
subjects relate to local industries. Materials
covered the topics of farming, textiles, wind,
water and engineering (bridges) and were
developed with the active involvement of
bodies like the Institute of Civil Engineers.

Levels of
Progression (KS3)
To prepare schools for the upcoming
changes in assessment, we completed a
huge amount of work producing detailed
guidance on the new Levels of Progression.
In addition, we provided online training to
over 120 Key Stage 3 teachers. As part of the
course, these teachers created and shared
new tasks, which are now available as
additional resources.
“This was an excellent course. It made a
difficult task very easy and provided optimum
support both in terms of personnel and
resources to help us in the completion of this
work” KS3 Teacher

InCAS
During the 2009 autumn term, almost
100,000 learners from Years 4 to 7 completed
the interactive, computerised assessment
system (InCAS) assessments in Reading and
General Maths. All Year 4 to 7 teachers have
already been trained to use the tool. In May
2010, we’ll be offering additional training
to assessment coordinators as well as
classroom assistants.
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Learning for Life
and Work
Three new, integrated units now support
Learning for Life and Work (LLW) at Key
Stage 3. We completed these at the end
of the financial year and sent them to all
post-primary schools in April 2010. Each
integrated activity incorporates two strands
of LLW and provides opportunities for
learners to develop the Cross Curricular
Skills:
Migrant Workers
Addresses Education for Employability and
Local and Global Citizenship
Food Miles
Addresses Home Economics and Education
for Employability
Drugs and Society
Addresses Personal Development and Local
and Global Citizenship
In addition, after consulting with schools,
we introduced a modular GCSE LLW
qualification, which gives more choice to
teachers in how they deliver the subject.

Irish
Medium
As part of our ongoing responsibility to
support Irish Medium schools, this year we
focused on translating a host of our English
learning and teaching resources into Irish,
including those for:
• Personal Development and Mutual
Understanding (PDMU);
• Thinking Skills and Personal Capabilities
(TSPC);
• Thematic Units;
• Ideas for Connected Learning (ICLs);
• Education for Employability; and
• Financial Capability.
The absence of suitable textbooks at
Key Stage 3 and Key Stage 4 has been a
particular difficulty for the Irish Medium
sector, so this year we translated two
textbooks and two workbooks and arranged
production of these with a local publisher.
In addition, we developed a bespoke
resource titled Féasta Focal, which was
recently launched by the Minister for
Education at Comhairle na Gaelscolaíochta’s
annual conference.

11
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The Year in Brief
Rewarding
Achievement
We take great pride in recognising the skills
and talents of Northern Ireland’s young
people through a number of national events:
• True Colours, our annual touring art and
design exhibition, displayed candidates’
work from the summer 2009 examinations
series and was attended by over 9,000
people this year.
• Score, a concert held annually, took
place this year in the Waterfront Hall to
showcase a selection of the best musical
talents at GCSE and GCE levels.
• Celebrating Excellence offered well-earned
recognition to the top scoring candidates
in all subjects for GCSE and GCE.
• Celebrating Achievement acknowledged the
successes of top learners across our full
portfolio of vocational qualifications.

Online
Presence
The CCEA website at www.ccea.org.uk was
revamped during the year. The response
from the public was fantastic, with almost
1,000,000 visitors to the site (a 56% increase
from last year). We also publish
www.nicurriculum.org.uk, which had over
204,000 visitors this year, and the Education
and Skills Authority (ESA) website, which
had 66,024 visitors (an increase of 98.5%).
In August 2009, 2,340 A2 candidates were,
for the first time, able to access their results
online via our Results Online system.
This system provides more than just the
achieved grades; it includes detail on how
close the candidate’s mark was to a grade
boundary to help them decide whether to
resit, and it provides centres with a range of
management information.
During 2009/10, our eGOML (Electronic
Graded Objectives in Modern Languages)
became operational for all five languages
that we offer: German, Italian, Irish, Spanish
and French. From the creation of the
questions and the sitting of the exam to the
grading of the assessment and the issue
of results, the whole process is carried out
online.
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To date, our Financial Capability
team has worked with nearly 300
… schools to lay the foundations
for good financial management
for the post-recession generation.

Financial
Capability
To date, our Financial Capability team has
worked with nearly 300 primary and postprimary schools to lay the foundations for
good financial management for the postrecession generation. In March 2010, CCEA,
in association with the Financial Services
Authority (FSA), hosted the Talk about Money
conference at the Ramada Hotel, Belfast.
The first conference of its kind in Ireland, the
event sought to raise the profile of financial
capability amongst primary and secondary
schools.
Almost 200 primary and post-primary
teachers attended the event, which was
chaired by local actress and comedienne
Nuala McKeever. Keynote speakers
representing the worlds of finance and
education shared their valuable insights on
partnerships and money management, and
participants also benefited from a host of
financial workshops, including:
• Financial Capability within Special Schools –
a Holistic Approach;
• Organising a Money Event in Your School;
• The Scottish Approach to Financial
Education;
• NI Strategy for Financial Capability – a
Partnership Approach; and
• a selection of workshops exploring online
learning tools with a financial focus.
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Our paper recycling practices
have saved over 4,713 trees in
the past seven years

Community Involvement and
Environmental Care
CCEA’s Corporate Social
Responsibility Strategy
To achieve our mission, which is to enable
the full potential of all learners to be achieved
and recognised, we feel that we must do
more than manage and deliver our core
products and services. Stakeholder surveys
since 1999 indicate that there is increasing
importance placed on supporting our
communities and acting responsibly towards
the environment.
Our corporate social responsibility (CSR)
strategy, which we assess and refine as part
of our annual policy and strategy review,
ensures that we operate all our business
activities in a socially responsible and
environmentally sustainable way. We use a
range of data to measure our effectiveness.
Our Corporate Values and Code of Ethics
policies, which all CCEA employees must
uphold, enshrine the principles of our CSR
and our commitment to the environment.
Over the past seven years we have
continually reviewed and improved our
CSR to ensure that our investment in local,
charity, and educational communities helps
us to achieve our mission and objectives. In
return for our investment, we benefit from:
• improved stakeholder relationships;
• improved business performance;
• improved customer satisfaction across the
education field;
• better understanding of our indirect
customers, including young and adult
learners, employers, businesses and
those voluntary agencies that provide
support to the most vulnerable in society;
• insights that allow us to develop products
and services that more effectively meet
the needs of those indirect customers;
and
• being seen by the community as a
respectable corporate citizen.

Through our CSR strategy, our staff work
alongside Business in the Community in
volunteering projects that support young
people in local, socially deprived areas.
This year we also partnered with War on
Want Northern Ireland and raised £20k to
support their education programmes in
rural communities in Malawi, Uganda and
Tanzania. And every year we host community
and stakeholder events such as True Colours,
Score and Celebrating Achievement to
recognise and reward the excellent work of
our learners.
Our commitment to social and corporate
responsibility extends beyond donations
of time and money. It includes sharing our
insights and best practices, including with
those beyond Northern Ireland’s borders.
For example, as a direct result of winning
the European Quality Award in 2008,
during this reporting period we received
a visit from the Botswana Examinations
Council to understand how our quality
management system permeates all aspects
of our business. We were also visited by
the Turkish Ministry of National Education
to exchange best practice in the setting
of occupational and training standards,
assessing candidates’ work and certifying
achievement for vocational qualifications.
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We operate all our business
activities in a socially responsible
and environmentally sustainable
way
Our Corporate Values and Code of Ethics
policies stipulate the ethical behaviour that
we expect of our staff. To ensure that our
staff are aware of these policies, we present
them to all new staff during our cultural
induction programme and also make
them available on the staff intranet. We’re
currently revising our Corporate Values
policy to reflect the changing social and
economic environment.
We are also committed to being an
open and transparent organisation, and
this is demonstrated by the amount of
information available on our website and
our adherence to statutory deadlines when
responding to requests for information.
During the reporting period, we completed
an improvement action plan to ensure
that we were effectively implementing all
requirements of the Data Protection Act
1998 across the organisation and thereby
safeguarding the integrity of personal
information. We also fully meet the
requirements of all equality legislation.

Environmental Sustainability
To minimise CCEA’s footprint on the
global environment, we work throughout
the organisation to recycle materials,
reduce waste and reduce the consumption
of non-renewable resources. This also
demonstrates our commitment to
accountability and integrity in how we use
public funds.
Since 2003 we have been partnering with
Bryson House to recycle all card and paper,
plastic bottles, mobile phones, spectacles,
toner and printer cartridges, and computers.
Our paper recycling practices have saved
over 4,713 trees in the past seven years, and
in 2009 our headquarters was assessed by a
government inspector for energy efficiency
and received a B grading for its Display
Energy Certificate. (The grading scale is A–G,
with A being the most energy efficient.)

We offer staff opportunities to take part
in environmental programmes and have
established the Environmental Group – a
group of volunteers from across CCEA who
act as environmental champions.
Our efforts are independently assessed and
reviewed by a number of parties, for example
as part of our ISO 14001 accreditation
process, our European Foundation for
Quality Management (EFQM) accreditation
process and audits by the Northern Ireland
Audit Office (NIAO). In addition, after
undertaking ISO 14001 in 2006, we began an
environmental improvement programme.
This has evolved over the past four years,
and the focus for 2009–2011 is on further
reduction of paper use, mileage, and
continuing to improve our energy efficiency.

Equality Statement
CCEA in carrying out its functions has a
statutory responsibility, to have due regard to
the need to promote equality of opportunity:• Between persons of different religious
belief, political opinion, racial group, age,
marital status or sexual orientation;
• Between men and women generally;
• Between persons with disability and
persons without; and,
• Between persons with dependants and
persons without.
In addition, without prejudice to the above
obligation, CCEA should also in carrying out
its functions, have regard to the desirability
of promoting good relations between
persons of different religious belief, political
opinion or racial group.

15
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Staff Boost African Education
Our Pledge:

To raise £20k in 18 months

Our Mission:

To support education projects in
Africa and make a real and lasting
difference in the lives of others

Beneficiaries:

Rural communities in Malawi,
Uganda and Tanzania

The Team:

Led by Anne Marie Duffy, Director of
Qualifications, coordinated by our
charity committee and staffed by
volunteers from all levels and areas

Total Contribution:

£20k, plus design of an online
auction site for War on Want that
raised a further £30k and provides
the charity with a sustainable tool
for future fundraising
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Monday 26th October 2009
Anne Marie Duffy
CCEA
29 Clarendon Road
Clarendon Dock
Belfast
BT1 3BG

Dear Anne Marie,

Thank you for the fantastic job you and your team did in raising
£20,000 to support vulnerable children and young people in gaining
access to education in Africa.
I would also like to pay tribute to the team within Business
Assurance and throughout CCEA. The fundraising challenge was a
massive task and the team equipped itself with great determination,
enthusiasm and imagination, particularly in times when ingenuity
was called for.
I can’t emphasise enough the importance of how the funds will help
transform lives in Africa. Not only have thousands of children and
young people now got access to education, they now have the
opportunity to take control of their lives.
Thank you for your incredible hard work and thanks for the enduring
contribution CCEA has made to transforming the lives of vulnerable
children in Africa.
With best wishes,
Linda McClelland
Director
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Looking Forward
This coming financial year, we will be
focusing our resources on eight core areas:
• delivery of a robust, fair and accurate
public examinations service;
• implementation of new assessment
arrangements to support the curriculum;
• maintenance of a robust, fair and accurate
system of assessment and reporting,
including the interactive, computerised
assessment system (InCAS);
• science, technology, engineering and
mathematics (STEM), (including ICT);
• the curriculum and qualifications needs of
the Irish Medium sector;
• further embedding of the curriculum;
• support for the new literacy and numeracy
strategy; and
• development of qualifications to support
the curriculum and the Entitlement
Framework, with reference to applied
qualifications, qualifications below Level
2, and the need for a focus on English,
mathematics and Gaeilge.
We expect to be operating in a financially
constrained environment during 2010/11
and beyond, but we believe we can maintain
the quality of service by improving efficiency,
modernising additional processes and
focusing on our core services. Below are
some of the projects we have planned for
2010/11:

Over 8,000 primary teachers
and approximately 930
schools will benefit from
training in the Cross Curricular
Skills.

Introducing A*
We will be focused on the introduction of
the A* award in summer 2010 to stretch the
brightest of our GCE candidates.

United GCSEs
We’ll be introducing the first unitised GCSE
examinations in summer 2010. This will be
the first time GCSE candidates and teachers
will have the flexibility to choose which units
to take and when. This flexibility has already
been a feature of GCE qualifications for
many years.

Entitlement
Framework
The Entitlement Framework requires that
by September 2013 schools must offer their
Key Stage 4 learners access to a minimum
of 24 courses (with at least eight being
applied) and post-16 learners a minimum
of 27 courses (with at least nine being
applied). To help schools and colleges within
Northern Ireland to meet this obligation, and
to directly address the needs of employers,
we have begun work to broaden our current
portfolio of qualifications. Our aim is to add
at least five new applied subjects by autumn
2012 for first teaching from 2013. To develop
these new qualifications, we involved
industry representatives from the beginning
of the process. This innovative approach
will ensure that our applied subjects are as
focused on the skills required by industry
as they are on the curriculum’s education
requirements.
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New applied subjects will
focus on the skills required by
industry as well as education
requirements

Rebirth of Sciences
During summer 2010, we will be revising
our five main science specifications, with an
aim to launch these in October 2010. Major
changes will be as follows:
• Coursework will change to controlled
assessment in line with other GCSE
subjects that have internal assessment.
• All specifications will be unitised with one
resit opportunity per unit. This will allow
more flexibility in how the candidates are
assessed.
• All specifications will address the skills,
knowledge and understanding of
‘How Science Works’.
• We will be reducing the content in
the Science Single and Double Award
specifications.
• All specifications went through an
Equality Impact Assessment to ensure no
unintended disadvantage to any particular
group of learners.

Modernisation
The following three major pieces of work will
dominate our modernisation programme:
• During the summer 2010 examinations
series, we will be scanning and marking
online all GCSE ICT and Mathematics
scripts. This will cut administration and
improve the quality of analytical information
we are able to feed back to centres.

Materials will show learners
how STEM relates to everyday
life and offer engaging
activities

• In September we’ll begin a complete
redesign of our examinations computer
system to make administration
easier for schools, improve our own
efficiency, produce more useful data for
management purposes and provide for
the future needs of the education sector
(for example submission, assessment and
storage of coursework online).
• We’ll also be completing a new Direct
Claims system for Key and Essential
Skills this year. This system will allow
centres to submit and carry out all their
administration online. This will further
reduce the administration burden in
centres and ensure faster turnaround
times on the issue of certificates.

Primary
Assessment
Assessment is an extremely important
area for schools. With revised assessment
arrangements now formally signed off by
the Department of Education (DE), we will
be providing training to familiarise primary
teachers with the Cross Curricular Skills
and the new Levels of Progression. The
course will be a blend of online modules
and face-to-face sessions. As assessment
is statutory, we anticipate that all primary
teachers will take part. This means that over
8,000 primary teachers and approximately
930 schools will benefit from this training.
Detailed guidance, including our Good
Practice Guide for Assessment, is also
planned. This resource will help teachers
better understand the various strands
of assessment and how they relate to
classroom practice.
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STEM
at Key Stage 3
In response to findings in the 2008 and 2009
Matrix Reports (economic priorities) and DE’s
STEM Review (educational priorities), we will
be developing a collection of teaching and
learning materials that focus on the transition
between Key Stage 2 and Key Stage 3 and that:
• show learners how STEM relates to everyday
life;
• offer engaging, practical activities for the
classroom;
• highlight the career opportunities related to
STEM subjects; and
• attempt to realign education with Northern
Ireland’s economic priorities for the future.
The resources will be available through a new
STEM microsite on www.nicurriculum.org.uk.
It will feature:
• examples of 10 successful, practical and
cross-curricular STEM projects carried out
in schools;
• a STEM directory of contact details for
businesses and facilities in Northern
Ireland that are interested in STEM and
willing to engage in partnerships with
schools. (Schools will be able to search for
businesses near their postcode and use
these contacts to develop bespoke STEM
projects, educational visits, etc.);
• audio-visual materials about the Large
Hadron Collider and sub-atomic particles;
and
• teaching materials and audio-visual stimuli
linked to industry (specifically, advanced
engineering (transport), advanced materials,
agri-food, ICT, and life and health science).
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Financial Summary
Basis of Accounts

2009/10 2008/09

We’ve prepared the accounts in accordance
with the Accounts Direction issued by the
Department of Education (DE), with the
approval of the Department of Finance and
Personnel (DFP) and in accordance with
schedule 3 paragraph 13 of the Education
(NI) Order 1998.

Expenditure

The Corporate Plan

Capital

We prepare, and update annually, a threeyear Corporate Plan, which we submit to DE
for approval. The plan sets out clearly:
• our fundamental aim;
• financial assumptions;
• our main objectives and priorities; and
• the activities that we plan to undertake in
support of these objectives.

Net expenditure

For each financial year, we prepare a
detailed, costed Operational Plan and work
programme to help us achieve the objectives
in the Corporate Plan. Our Management
Statement and Financial Memorandum,
agreed with DE, requires us to:
• produce accounts on an accruals basis;
and
• properly present the income, expenditure
and cash flows for the financial year and
the balances held at the year end.

Summary Results
CCEA’s financial results for the year ended
31 March 2010 are summarised as follows:

£000

£000

9,402

9,133

(30,795)

(30,283)

(477)

(101)

321

100

(21,549)

(21,151)

Income
Other Financial
Charge
Notional Cost of

Changes in Fixed Assets
We’ve prepared the financial statements
in accordance with the historical cost
convention (as modified by the indexation
and revaluation of fixed assets in line with
the government’s Financial Reporting Manual
2009/10).
The total capital expenditure for the year
amounted to £215k.

Charitable Donations
CCEA made no charitable donations from its
own funds during 2009/10.

Equal Opportunity Policy
We aim to make the best possible use of
our resources, especially our staff. We
recruit and promote candidates based on
merit. We comply with all relevant legislation
and guidance on fair employment and equal
opportunities, and we aim to meet the
legislative and other requirements in
respect of employees with disabilities.
Wherever possible, in cases where an
employee becomes disabled during service,
we continue their employment, offer career
development opportunities, and arrange any
training required.
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In line with legal requirements, we do
everything that is reasonably within our
control to ensure the health, safety and
welfare of all our employees.

Employee Sickness Absences
Average annual sickness absence for the
reporting period was 9.59 days per employee.
(As of 31 March 2009, the average was 7.41
days.)

Employer–Staff Communication
CCEA has a Joint Consultative and
Negotiating Committee (JCNC) to regulate
industrial relations and promote cooperation
between management and staff. We
hold regular all-staff briefings at which
the Chief Executive and members of the
Senior Management Team share major
developments with the staff and obtain
feedback.
In between meetings, we keep staff informed
about current and forthcoming activities
and events via our intranet site and all-staff
emails.

Auditor
The Principal Auditor is the Northern Ireland
Audit Office (NIAO), 106 University Street,
Belfast, BT7 1EU.
The cost of work performed during 2009/10
was as follows:
£
Audit Services

11,121

Further Assurance Services

-

Tax Services

-

Other Services

-

Total

11,121

The fee for audit services relates to the
statutory audit of the financial statements.
The auditors provided further assurance
services in line with the National Fraud
Initiative. These fees are included within
Other Expenditure in the Net Expenditure
Account section of this report.

Payment to Creditors
In line with DFP guidance, we aim to pay
bills within 10 days.
During the reporting period, we met the
target 77% of the time. 81% of invoices were
verified, approved and paid within this
standard for the month of March 2010.

Pension Accounting Policy
Pension liabilities are treated in the accounts
in accordance with Accounting Policies Note
1.11 in the Notes to the Financial Statements
Year ended 31 March 2010 section of this
report. Details of the emoluments and pension
entitlements of senior management appear in
the Remuneration Report section of this report.

Going Concern
The balance sheet at 31 March 2010 shows net
liabilities of £14,230k. This includes
liabilities due in future years. All liabilities
will be met by our own earned income or by
future grant-in-aid from DE, our sponsoring
department. As far as we know, DE’s
sponsorship will continue. Consequently,
we feel that it’s appropriate to adopt a going
concern basis for the preparation of the
financial statements.

Register of Interests
Council members, members of the key
management staff or other related parties have
not engaged in any material transactions with
us during the year other than those disclosed
in the:
• Emoluments and Pension Entitlements of
Senior Management table in the
Remuneration Report section of this report;
and
• Note 23: Related Parties in the Notes to the
Financial Statements section of this report.
A register of members’ interests is available
and can be inspected on application to the Chief
Executive’s office.

Personal Data Related Incidents
There were no personal data related incidents
during the 2009/10 financial year.
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Accounting Officer 2009/10
Neil Anderson, Acting Chief Executive, held
Accounting Officer responsibilities for CCEA
during the 2009/10 financial year.
As Accounting Officer, he took steps to keep
informed of all relevant audit information
and to ensure that our auditors were aware
of that information. As far as he is aware, the
auditors have been informed of all relevant
audit information.
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Remuneration Report
Remuneration Policy

Service Contracts

The Remuneration Committee comprises
the Chairperson of the Council and at
least one other non-executive Business
Committee member. The Committee
is authorised by the Council to obtain
appropriate, independent professional or
legal advice as necessary.

All members of CCEA’s TMT have openended contracts with a normal retiring age
of 65 and a notice period of three months.
The only termination payments we make are
payment in lieu of notice and redundancy
payments. The remuneration of all members
of TMT consists of salary, performance
related pay and pension contributions. They
do not receive any benefits in kind.

The Chief Executive’s remuneration is set
by the Council’s Remuneration Committee
within a scale set by the Department of
Education (DE). The Committee:
• agrees the Chief Executive’s salary for the
year ahead;
• reviews the Chief Executive’s performance
against targets set by the Chairperson at
the start of each year; and
• agrees a performance related payment up
to a maximum of 15% of his salary.
The Chief Executive consults with the
Chairperson to agree the remuneration
of the other directors on CCEA’s Top
Management Team (TMT). Remuneration is
based on the salary scale agreed for each
job. The Chief Executive also:
• reviews each director’s performance
against the targets he has set at the start
of the year; and
• agrees, in consultation with the
Chairperson, a performance related
payment up to a maximum of 10% of the
director’s salary.
The Remuneration Committee reviews and
acts as moderator for these payments.
In line with Treasury guidelines, DE reviews
and approves the performance related
payments we make to our TMT.
The Chairperson’s honorarium has been set
by DE at 20% of the mid-point of the Chief
Executive’s salary scale.

Emoluments and pension entitlements
The emoluments and pension entitlements
of senior management are disclosed
overleaf. Members of the senior
management team participate in either the
Northern Ireland Local Government Officers
Superannuation Committee’s (NILGOSC)
Superannuation Scheme or the Teachers’
Superannuation Scheme as defined in Note
6 in the Notes to the Financial Statements
section of this report.
Emoluments
Emoluments consist of gross salary and
performance related pay. We provided no
other bonuses, allowances, or benefits in
kind during the year.
The increase in real terms of the accrued
pensions and lump sums is calculated on
the basis of an inflation adjustment factor of
0% for the year to 31 March 2010 and also
shows an adjustment for changes in market
investment factors.

69,007

69,007

69,007

69,007

Mark Fegan
Chief
Financial
Officer

Anne-Marie
Duffy
Director of
Qualifications

Martin Quinn
Director of
Corporate
Services

Richard
Hanna
Director of
Education
Strategy

–

–

–

–

–

69,007

69,007

69,007

69,007

81,884

£

Total
Emoluments

69,007

72,747

69,007

73,181

87,004

£

Pensionable
Earnings

n/a*

2,167

3,993

1,317

1,149

£

Real increase in
pension earned
in the year to
31/03/10

n/a*

2,865

11,978

293

–

£

Real increase in
accrued lump
sum in the year
to 31/03/10

22,926

6,061

23,640

4,393

10,326

£

Total accrued
pension at
31/03/10

68,778

14,544

70,919

9,519

26,628

£

Total accrued
lump sum at
31/03/10

362,103

53,448

421,122

34.635

137,077

£

CETV at
31/03/09

425,486

83,961

476,878

48,278

156,438

£

CETV at
31/03/10

Gavin Boyd
Interim Chief Executive.......................................................................... Date.....................................................

During the year, the Chairperson was paid an honorarium of £16,680. In addition, £1,481 was paid in respect of Employers’ National Insurance (see Note 7 in the Notes to the Financial
Statements section of this report). No emoluments were paid to any other Council member.

Chairperson’s Honorarium

The CETV figures and other pension details include the value of any pension benefit from another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the disclosed pension
arrangement. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued as a result of their having purchased additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own expense.
CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework described by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.

A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme, an arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme, or an arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and
chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures shown above relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued during their total membership
in the pension scheme, not just during their service in a senior capacity (which we are required to disclose).

A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed, capitalised value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits
valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s pension payable from the scheme.

Cash Equivalent Transfer Value

* Pension figures not available from the Teachers Pension Branch as employee had not reached 50 years of age at 1 April 2009.

81,884

£

£

Neil Anderson
Acting Chief
Executive

Performance
Related Pay

Salary

Emoluments and Pension Entitlements of Senior Management (Audited)
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Statement of Accounting
Officer’s Responsibilities
Under Schedule 3 of the Education (Northern
Ireland) Order 1998, the Department of
Education (DE), with the approval of the
Department of Finance and Personnel
(DFP), has directed CCEA to prepare for
each financial year a statement of accounts
in the form and on the basis set out in
the Accounts Direction. The accounts are
prepared on an accruals basis and must give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
CCEA and of its net expenditure, changes
in taxpayers’ equity, and cash flows for the
financial year.
In preparing the accounts, the Accounting
Officer is required to comply with the
requirements of the government’s Financial
Reporting Manual and in particular to:
• observe the Accounts Direction issued
by DE, including the relevant accounting
and disclosure requirements, and
apply suitable accounting policies on a
consistent basis;
• make judgements and estimates on a
reasonable basis;
• state whether applicable accounting
standards as set out in the government’s
Financial Reporting Manual have been
followed, and disclose and explain any
material departures in the financial
statements; and
• prepare the accounts on a going concern
basis.

The Accounting Officer of DE has designated
the Chief Executive of CCEA as Accounting
Officer of CCEA. The responsibilities of an
Accounting Officer (including responsibility
for the propriety and regularity of the public
finances for which the Accounting Officer is
answerable, for keeping proper records, and
for safeguarding CCEA’s assets) are set out
in Managing Public Money Northern Ireland
published by DFP.
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Statement on Internal Control
Scope of Responsibility
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility
for maintaining a sound system of internal
control that supports the achievement
of CCEA’s policies, aims and objectives,
whilst safeguarding the public funds
and departmental assets for which I am
personally responsible, in accordance
with the responsibilities assigned to me in
Managing Public Money Northern Ireland
(MPMNI).
I report directly to the Chairperson of the
Council and am supported by four directors
who are directly responsible to me.
My directors and I are in regular contact
with the Department of Education (DE), our
sponsoring Department, and ensure they
are kept fully informed of CCEA’s plans,
performance and risks through a series of
documents. These documents include our
monthly management accounts.
I accompany the Chairperson to biannual
Accountability Reviews with the Education
and Skills Authority’s (ESA) CEO Designate,
an additional Accounting Officer for the
Department of Education.
I attend all Council and Council subcommittee meetings in order to account for
the organisation’s performance.

The Purpose of the System of
Internal Control
The system of internal control is designed
to manage risk to a reasonable level rather
than to eliminate all risk of failure to
achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can,
therefore, only provide reasonable, and not
absolute, assurance of effectiveness.

The system of internal control is based on an
ongoing process designed to:
• identify and prioritise the risks to the
achievement of departmental policies,
aims and objectives;
• evaluate the likelihood of those risks
being realised and the impact should they
be realised; and
• manage them efficiently, effectively and
economically.
The system of internal control has been
in place in CCEA for the year ended 31
March 2010 and up to the date of approval
of the annual report and accounts, and is in
accordance with Department of Finance and
Personnel (DFP) guidance.

Capacity to Handle Risk
We lead our risk management process
through the following system of stewardship
reporting:
• The Top Management Team (TMT) takes
ownership of risks at a corporate level.
• The business managers take ownership of
risks at a business unit level.
• Team leaders take ownership of risks at
an operational level.
In addition, we’ve formalised our risk
management system by developing,
maintaining and communicating our:
• Risk Management Policy;
• ISO 9001 Risk Management Procedure;
• Risk Response Plan;
• Risk Management Process Manual;
• Corporate, Business and Operational Risk
Registers; and
• Disaster Recovery/Business Continuity Plan.
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Stewardship reporting
Each month during the reporting period,
the Director of Corporate Services worked
with TMT to formally review the risks at a
corporate level. In addition, the Business
Assurance Manager led the following risk
reviews:
• Business Unit Level
Reviews in June 2009 and December 2009

Audit and Risk Committee
This committee meets four times per year,
allowing risks to be discussed and reviewed by
representatives of our Council, our outsourced
internal auditors and the Northern Ireland
Audit Office (NIAO).

• Operational Level
Review in December 2009.

The Risk and Control Framework
Key elements of CCEA’s risk management cycle

Because the services we offer are so crucial to, and influential on, young people, particularly those services
relating to qualifications and assessment, we are cautious by nature. Consequently, our risk management
strategy is extremely robust, and we promote a no-fail culture.

Confirm
Objectives
Monitor and
Report

Take Action:
• Tolerate
• Transfer
• Terminate
• Treat

Challenge,
Evaluate and
Control

Identify
Risks

Assess
Risks

Establish
Controls
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Identify Risks

Take Action

We identify the key risks that could impact
on our corporate and operational objectives.
To do this, we carry out a risk assessment
exercise every time the risk registers are
reviewed. This subjective exercise requires
regular review and involvement of staff from
across the organisation with the relevant
seniority, level of experience and breadth of
knowledge.

To mitigate against or plan contingencies
for each risk, we take one of the four actions
below:

Assess Risks

Category

Definition

Transfer the
risk

This includes paying a third
party to take the risk or
transferring it by conventional
insurance.

Tolerate the
risk

Some risks we cannot
influence. For example, control
of the risk may lie outside
the organisation. Other risks
may be considered unlikely
to happen, may not have a
major impact if they do, or
the cost of taking action may
be disproportionate to the
potential benefit.

Terminate
the risk

Some risks are only treatable
or containable to acceptable
levels by terminating the
activity, designing/simplifying
a business process to avoid
the risk, or not pursuing the
particular objective.

We address the most threatening risks first.
To prioritise the risks, we ask ourselves:
What can happen? How likely is it to happen?
How bad will it be if it does happen?
We assign each risk a rating by scoring the
likelihood on a scale of 1–3 (with three being
the highest) and the potential impact on
a scale of 1–6 (with six being the highest).
We then rate each risk using the following
equation:
Likelihood of Risk x Impact of Risk = Risk
Rating

Establish Controls
We put controls in place to give early
warning of each risk escalating or changing
in nature. Mitigation and contingency are
established for every risk.

Treat the risk The majority of risks will
belong in this category. The
risk is treated by implementing
control processes that bring
the risk down to a level
acceptable to the organisation.

Monitor and Report
Challenge, Evaluate and Control
We ensure that the risks are identified and
that their mitigation and contingency actions
are reviewed on a regular basis. Corporate
risks are reviewed monthly, business risks
biannually, and operational risks annually.

We ensure that risk registers are reviewed
regularly by all levels within the organisation
in order to add, remove or amend risks in
response to changing events. TMT and the
Audit and Risk Committee receive regular
reports that are constantly reviewed by
the Director of Corporate Services and the
Business Assurance Manager. All staff are
reminded to immediately report new risks,
near misses or risks affected by new factors
rather than wait for the normal reporting
cycle.
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Management of information risks
In March 2009 we revised how we manage
information risks. We created an action
plan to improve how we measure CCEA’s
adherence to the Data Protection Act 1998.
The actions focused on:
• eliminating weaknesses in the ways
we manage personal and business
information; and
• achieving best practice in our areas of
strength.
We also commissioned four key internal
audits to provide additional assurance:
• High Level Security Review of the Internal IT
Network;
• Storage and Movement of Personal Data;
• Legislative Compliance; and
• Implementation of CCEA’s Data Protection
Action Plan.
During this reporting period, we completed
the actions from these audits. In addition,
all business managers and directors signed
a statement confirming that they were
satisfied that all information risks were
being handled effectively within their areas.
The management of information risks is now
a routine part of our stewardship reporting
and risk management processes.
Disaster recovery/business continuity plans
Our Business Continuity Plan was reviewed by
KPMG last year, and all recommendations
were implemented during the reporting
period. The plan now represents best
practice and has been integrated with:
• the Emergency Preparedness and Response
Procedure, which is required for both ISO
14001 and OHSAS 18001;
• the Risk Response Plan; and
• our ICT team’s own Disaster Recovery
Plans for the AS400 examinations system
and the rest of our network.

Review of Effectiveness
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility
for reviewing the effectiveness of the
system of internal control. My review of
the effectiveness of the system of internal
control is informed by:

• the work of the internal auditors and
the executive managers within the
organisation who have responsibility for
the development and maintenance of the
internal control framework; and
• comments made by the external auditors
in their management letter and other
reports.
I have been advised on the implications of
the result of my review of the effectiveness
of the system of internal control by the board
and the Audit and Risk Committee, and a
plan to address weaknesses and ensure
continuous improvement of the system is in
place.
Council and sub-committees
During the reporting period, the Council met
seven times and its sub-committees met
at least four times. (The sub-committees
are: Regulation and Qualifications,
Curriculum and Assessment, and Finance
Committee.) Due to the Minister’s review of
the governance arrangements for education
bodies, as of February 2010 the Council
and its Finance Committee meet monthly.
At these meetings, the directors report on
performance and discuss risks for their
areas.
Audit and Risk Committee
CCEA’s Audit and Risk Committee met
four times during the reporting period.
From March 2010, this committee will also
now meet monthly. Representatives from
KPMG (as internal auditors), the NIAO and
CCEA’s Business Assurance Unit are also
present at each meeting. This committee
scrutinises the organisation’s performance
on procurement policy, controls and
procedures, risk management and corporate
governance. The opportunity is also made
available to the committee each year to meet
with both the internal and external auditors
without CCEA’s executive officers being
present, in line with best practice.
Internal audit
To make our internal audits as effective
as possible, as well as to ensure complete
impartiality, we outsource this function.
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KPMG was our auditor for this reporting
period. Their overall opinion on CCEA’s
system of internal control and risk
management for the year ended 2009/10
is rated as satisfactory, with a limitation on
governance.
They completed eight reviews in 2009/10
and six follow-ups to these, as well as three
follow-up reviews to ensure actions from our
2008/09 audits had been implemented.
Review Type

#

Outcomes/Scores

Risk-based
assurance
reviews

7

4 Satisfactory
2 Limited
1 Unacceptable

Advisory
reviews

1

N/A

Visit www.ccea.org.uk for a
detailed report on how we
performed against all the
measures within our costed
Operational Plan for 2009/10
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Area

Audit Title

Rating

Recommendations

Status of
Recommendation

Financial

Financial Ledger and
Month End Control
Processes

Satisfactory

1 minor improvement

Actioned

Contracted-forServices and Sundry
Payments

Satisfactory

2 minor improvements

Actioned

To highlight to ESA the
current age of the IT
system for payments so
that a decision can be
made on replacement
immediately upon
convergence.

Actioned

Top Team Contracting

Satisfactory

5 minor improvements

3 Actioned
2 In progress

To engage with ESA to
ensure a transition plan
is in place with clear
objectives, roles and
responsibilities

Superceded

4 minor improvements

In progress

To improve controls within
the Centre for Evaluation
and Monitoring (CEM) (the
outsourced operator of
the assessments)

In progress

To clarify the contractual
and governance
arrangements put in
place by the Department
of Education

In progress

Operational

Management’s
Preparations for
Transition into ESA

Limited
(due to the delayed
formation of ESA
and uncertainty over
CCEA’s role within
it)

InCAS Errors
and Assurance
Mechanisms over the
InCAS System
(details below)

Governance

Risk Management
Arrangements
(required yearly)

Satisfactory

3 minor

In progress

Corporate
Governance
Arrangements
(required yearly)

Limited

7 minor improvements

In progress

Review of the Process
Used to Appoint and
Determine the Salary
Scales for the Interim
Top Management
Team of CCEA
(details below)

Unacceptable
(due to breach
in governance
arrangements over
pay during the
2008/09 financial
year)

Follow-up
Review
Completed

Scheduled
for 2010/11

To review Council’s
standing orders and
terms of reference
2 significant
recommendations

Actioned

Scheduled
for 2010/11
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Management’s Preparations for Transition
into ESA
This report highlighted the risk to effective
business continuity but also acknowledged
the detailed handover plan and mechanisms
we have in place to ensure that our staff
are fully briefed and acclimatised to the
change.
InCAS Errors and Assurance Mechanisms over
the InCAS System
This advisory report investigated the causes
of the errors in the interactive, computerised
assessment system (InCAS) results that
some schools received in November 2009.
The report was very positive regarding
our involvement. It concluded that we had
taken appropriate actions, had responded
effectively when the errors arose, and had
gone beyond our obligations given that we
were not responsible for managing the
Centre for Evaluation and Monitoring (CEM)
contract.
Review of the Process Used to Appoint and
Determine the Salary Scales for the Interim
Top Management Team of CCEA
The report highlighted two significant
recommendations to be addressed
immediately:
• The Council must seek formal DE approval
in advance for any future regrading.
• The Remuneration Committee must
produce a clearly defined procedure and
process for the determination of salaries
and performance related pay (PRP).
The auditors concluded that our failure
to seek DE approval for the revised
remuneration structure of the Interim TMT
had been an oversight. They acknowledged
that the revised remuneration level that
we proposed was actually lower than the
DE approved scale and that we had gained
nothing by neglecting to seek approval from
DE.

Follow-ups to 2008/09
The internal auditors carried out three
follow-up reports for those audits that
Deloitte completed during the 2008/09 year.
These were:
• Moderation;
• QPP Electronic Exchanges; and
• Risk Management and Corporate
Governance Arrangements.

Management’s key assurance
mechanisms
Performance management
At CCEA, all staff are subject to an annual
performance appraisal. Managers who
are eligible for PRP are subject to a highly
regulated system of appraisal and evaluation.
Depending on their grade, PRP makes
up a maximum of 10–15% of their total
remuneration.
The appraisal of managers is carried out by
their line manager, facilitated by our People
Services and Equality team, and moderated
by TMT and the Remuneration Committee.
As with all aspects of our pay arrangements,
PRP payments are also subject to DE and the
DFP approval.
In the past, this system has consistently
ensured performance beyond that required in
managerial job descriptions. However, during
the reporting period, constraints within the
remit process have severely weakened the
usefulness of this incentive and recognition
device. See the Significant Internal Control
Problems section below.
Quality management
Our use of quality standards and independent
assessments is central to our record of
maintaining exceptionally high performance
and continuous improvement. Below is a
list of the standards and accreditations we
earned in the 2009/10 year:
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Our Business Continuity Plan
now represents best practice

CCEA is the first public body in Northern Ireland to be
accredited with this new standard. Out of the 57 criteria,
we achieved best practice in five, full compliance in 46 and
partial compliance in six.
ISO 14001
(Environmental)

OHSAS 18001
(Health and Safety)

ISO 27001
(Information
Security
Management)

Customer satisfaction survey
This year marked our 10th annual
customer satisfaction survey. Over 90% of
respondents stated that they were satisfied
with our products and services. We’re
currently addressing those areas noted for
improvement, for example car parking and
catering.
Formal complaints or requests for
information under legislation
During the reporting period there were
103 requests made under the Freedom of
Information Act. CCEA was not the subject
of any complaints from any of the external
complaints agencies, and no complaints were
made to the Office of the Northern Ireland
Ombudsman.
Financial management
Each year we prepare a detailed, costed
Operational Plan that sets out how we will
achieve the objectives set by DE. During the
reporting period, we achieved 492 out of the
503 objectives set. Our Financial Services
team provided monthly management reports
to managers and DE within five working days
of each month’s end. These were presented
at each Finance Committee and Council
meeting. In addition, the Financial Services
team operates a system of control accounts
and check lists to ensure that financial control
is tightly maintained throughout the year
and that the Annual Report and Accounts are
produced as quickly as possible.

Only one minor issue was raised. This was
inconsistency among teams in how they review
procedures. This is our first non-compliance
since 2002 .
TickIT (Software
Development)

ISO 20000
(IT Services
Management)

A detailed report on how we performed
against all the measures within our costed
Operational Plan for 2009/10 is available at
www.ccea.org.uk

Significant Internal Control
Problems
InCAS errors
In October 2009, 300 schools received
incorrect scores on primary school learners’
online assessments through the InCAS
system. As soon as these errors were
identified, we communicated with the schools
and worked with the InCAS system’s operator,
CEM, to ensure the errors were corrected and
scores reissued. We commissioned a special
internal audit by KPMG (see previous section:
‘Audit’), and we’re working with CEM and DE
to implement the range of recommendations
it identified. In addition DE commissioned
a working group to investigate this matter
and issue its own recommendations. These
recommendations are also currently being
implemented.
Appointment and setting of salary scales for
directors
By May 2006, CCEA’s TMT had been reduced
to a CEO and one director. By February 2007,
this was further reduced to an acting CEO.
Interim arrangements were put in place for
two business managers to act up in order to
provide governance support for the CEO.

Northern Ireland Council for the Curriculum,
Examinations and Assessment
Annual Report and Accounts 2009/10

However, with the further delay in the
implementation of ESA, we submitted a
business case to DE in November 2007 that
sought approval for the implementation
of an interim TMT. Although considerable
discussion with DE officials had taken place
on the matter, we implemented an interim
TMT from 1 March 2008 without formal
approval for the restructuring or associated
remuneration arrangements.
This issue was highlighted during the pay
remit process for 2008/09. In response, we
froze the directors’ pay with no cost of living,
progression or PRP paid until the issue was
resolved. In December 2009, DE instructed
us to allow the directors’ existing contracts
to expire and to replace these on 1 January
2010 with contracts they had approved.
In January 2010, members of the newly
constituted Council for CCEA each received
a letter from the Permanent Secretary
drawing attention to this governance
breach and reminding the Council of their
governance responsibilities.
The Chairperson asked KPMG to conduct
an audit into the Process Used to Appoint
and Determine the Salary Scales for the
Directors of CCEA (reported above under
Internal Audit).
AS Further Mathematics
The regulator’s rules for selecting and using
units for this subject were revised in 2008.
We updated our computer software in line
with this revision. However, the letter sent
to centres informing them of these changes
was not consistently applied. The issue was
highlighted by a review of the rules, which
was prompted by a query from a school.
Thirty-seven candidates received a more
favourable grade. We immediately reported
the issue to the regulator and Council, and
we sent a letter to all centres affected. I
can confirm that all candidates will hold
their AS grade already awarded. I can also
confirm that no A level Mathematics grades
were affected. A full independent report
by Business Assurance and the regulator
led to a number of recommendations that
now form a time-bound action plan. We
have amended the software and introduced
an additional manual check for the 2010
examinations season. All schools affected

by this issue were contacted by CCEA, and
the impact on all candidates was managed
effectively.
A2 Geography issue Jan 2010 series
During the January 2010 examinations
series, 17 candidates sitting A2 Geography
did not follow the instructions in answering
the option based questions. However, three
examiners who marked these 17 scripts did
award marks. This resulted in an incorrect
grade for the paper. The error was picked
up during an access to scripts query after
the issue of results. The 17 scripts were
remarked, with all 17 receiving lower
grades. We immediately informed the
centres by letter and telephone.
We identified this error and issued the letter
after the entry date for the summer 2010
examinations. However, we have allowed
the affected candidates involved to re-enter
without charge.
We have met with the examiners involved.
These examiners must complete a process
of retraining before they will be allowed to
mark another options-based paper. They
are not on the examining team for June
2010. To prevent this type of error in future,
we are reviewing the clarity of instructions
on all 2011 option-based papers and are
implementing an additional manual check
for 2010 scripts. All schools affected by
this issue were contacted by CCEA, and
the impact on all candidates was managed
effectively.

We ensure that risk registers
are reviewed regularly by all
levels within the organisation in
order to add, remove or amend
risks in response to changing
events

35

36

Northern Ireland Council for the Curriculum,
Examinations and Assessment
Annual Report and Accounts 2009/10

Significant risks
Vacancy control
Vacancy control describes the restrictions
on recruitment of staff that apply to
organisations affected by the Review of
Public Administration (RPA). The outline
business case for the formation of ESA
estimates the removal of 463 posts. These
measures are put in place to protect the
rights of existing permanent staff. These
restrictions require all new recruitments to
be:
• trawled internally first;
• then trawled among the education sector
or RPA affected organisations; and
• then advertised externally on a fixed-term
basis only.
Organisations are encouraged to use
arrangements such as acting up in
preference to recruitment, if possible. These
arrangements have been in place within the
education sector since November 2006.
As of 31 March 2010, across all staff, CCEA
has 210 staff on fixed-term contracts (56%
of total), and 74 of these staff are acting up
(20% of total).
Within the first four tiers of management,
CCEA has 21 staff on fixed-term contracts
(62%):
• 19 of these staff are acting up (56%); and
• 10 of these staff are acting up from
non-management positions (30%).
Interim governance arrangements
In January 2010, the Minister for Education
introduced new governance arrangements
for all education bodies. For CCEA,
this meant reducing our Council to its
statutory minimum of a Chair and nine
members. These arrangements were
introduced as an interim measure until
ESA and its Chairperson and Board took
over governance responsibilities. With the
continued uncertainty over a timescale for
the establishment of ESA, this arrangement
is placing undue weight on the shoulders
of our Council members, who volunteered
to stay on after their contract end date
of 31 December 2009. Returning Council
members initially expected that interim

governance arrangements would be in place
for a relatively short period of time. The
reduced size of our Council has affected
the balance of skills and experience within
Council and its sub-committees. In addition,
remaining members have had to focus most
of their time on corporate, business and
governance issues, with much less time
devoted to strategic educational issues.
Interim management arrangements
As mentioned earlier in this statement, an
interim TMT has been in place since March
2008. This consists of an acting CEO and four
directors. However, both the Chief Finance
Officer and I will be leaving in June 2010.
Both of these roles would have ceased to
exist under ESA, but as CCEA continues
to operate, this depletion of management
resource represents a significant risk. This
is being managed by the appointment of an
interim CEO and Accounting Officer, and a
recruitment process to appoint a Principal
Finance Officer.
Position on performance related pay (PRP)
As with most other organisations in the
public sector, CCEA was given approval to
pay the NJC agreed cost of living increase
of 1% for 2009/10 to their main body of staff.
However, also like most other organisations
in the public sector, we were not given
approval to pay performance related
payments to those staff who earned them.
This applies to 60 staff within CCEA.
This creates a substantial risk for CCEA. Of
the 60 staff affected by this, 17 are acting up
into management positions and can choose
to return to their original role at any time. Of
the 17, 10 of these staff’s original roles did
not entitle them to performance related pay;
the difference between their original and
acting up role is marginal in terms of basic
pay, but the additional responsibilities of the
management role are considerable. PRP
related to performance during the 2008/09
year is still outstanding, and the delay in
payment is effecting management–staff
relations. This presents an increased risk of
grievance proceedings and legal actions.
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Non-compliance with Pay Remit policy
During the 2010/11 year, CCEA was advised by DE
that some payments it had made or promised to
make had been deemed irregular as prior permission
had not been obtained from the Department in line
with Pay Remit policy. It is a condition under CCEA’s
Management Statement and Financial Memorandum
(MSFM) that all pay awards must have written
approval of the Department before being either made
or notified to staff.
The 2008/09 irregularity related to an honorarium
payment of £2,658, ICT retention payments of
£25,679 and £84,358 in relation to performance
related payments.
The 2009/10 irregularity relates to an honorarium
payment of £2,986.
During the 2010/11 financial year, the outstanding
PRP payments were authorised by the interim CEO
on the understanding and acceptance that there
existed a clear contractual commitment to do so.
The above matters have previously been reported
by CCEA to the Northern Ireland Audit Office.
Assurance has also been provided to DE that
there will be no recurrence and that appropriate
authorisation will be sought and obtained in advance
of any payment or commitment to pay in line with Pay
Remit policy.
CCEA, in accordance with the requirements of the
MSFM, will neither communicate to staff nor make
any uplifts in salary until formal approval is obtained
from DE.
In March 2011, CCEA was advised that DFP had given
approval for payment of cost of living and progression
increases for the CCEA Top Management Team for
the 2008/09 TMT pay remit; but that approval for
payment of the PRP element of the remit had not
been given. This matter remains to be resolved
between DE and DFP.

Gavin Boyd.................................................
Interim Chief Executive
Date ..............................................
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Northern Ireland Audit Office
Report on CCEA’s noncompliance with pay remit
policy
1.

2.

During the audit of the 2009-10 CCEA
accounts it came to my attention that
issues relating to pay have led to irregular
expenditure being incurred in the financial
years 2008-09 and 2009-10. These issues
have arisen because the CCEA made a
number of payments to staff in each of these
years that did not have the required written
approval of the Department of Education (the
Department) and the Department of Finance
and Personnel.
It is a condition of the CCEA’s funding under
its Management Statement and Financial
Memorandum that all pay awards must have
the prior written approval of the Department
before being either made or notified to Staff.
This approval was not obtained in each of the
cases below and therefore the expenditure is
irregular.

approve the payments the CCEA received legal
advice that the payments still had to be made as
the letters had created a contractual obligation
and the payments were made in December 2010.
5.

Finally in 2008-09 an honorarium of £2,658 was
paid to a member of staff in middle management
to reflect the fact that he had taken on extra duties
during the year. No approval of this arrangement
was sought by the CCEA prior to the payment
being made and the Department was not prepared
to retrospectively approve the payment.

Irregular amounts incurred in 2009-10
6.

In 2009-10, a further honorarium of £2,986 was
paid to the same member of staff as above
who continued to take on extra duties. Again this
was not approved by the Department and
as a result the payment is irregular.

Irregular amounts incurred in 2008-09

Conclusion

3.

7.

It is important that in future the CCEA obtains
formal written approval on all issues relating
to pay before any payment is made or any
commitment made to staff.

8.

I welcome the disclosure of these matters in the
Chief Executive’s Statement on Internal Control
and the action that has now been taken to ensure
that robust and effective arrangements now exist
to ensure that such a situation does not recur.

4.

In May 2009 £25,679 was paid to 29 IT staff
in non-management grades in payments
ranging from £400 to £1,922. These payments
related to the CCEA’s PRP scheme in the
2008-09 financial year. No approval for
these payments was sought until after the
payment was made and the Department was
not prepared to retrospectively approve the
payment.
Also relating to the 2008-09 year, an amount
of £84,358 was incurred for PRP payments
due to 24 middle management staff ranging
from £1,315 to £6,749. In February 2010
letters were issued to these staff confirming
that payments were due, despite the fact
that no approval had been received from the
Department. When the Department did not

KJ Donnelly
Comptroller and Auditor General
Northern Ireland Audit Office
106 University Street
Belfast
BT7 IEU
24th June 2011
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Certificate and Report of the
Comptroller and Auditor
General
I certify that I have audited the financial
statements of the Northern Ireland Council for
the Curriculum, Examinations and Assessment
for the year ended 31 March 2010 under Schedule
3 of the Education (Northern Ireland) Order 1998.
These comprise the Net Expenditure Account, the
Statement of Financial Position, the Statement
of Cash Flows, the Statement of Changes in
Taxpayers’ Equity and the related notes. These
financial statements have been prepared under
the accounting policies set out within them. I have
also audited the information in the Remuneration
Report that is described in that report as having
been audited.
Respective responsibilities of the
Accounting Officer and auditor
As explained more fully in the Statement of
Accounting Officer Responsibilities, the Chief
Executive as Accounting Officer is responsible
for the preparation of the financial statements
and for being satisfied that they give a true
and fair view. My responsibility is to audit the
financial statements in accordance with Schedule
3 of the Education (Northern Ireland) Order
1998. I conducted my audit in accordance with
International Standards on Auditing (UK and
Ireland).Those standards require me and my staff
to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s
Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the Audit of the Financial
Statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient
to give reasonable assurance that the financial
statements are free from material misstatement,
whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an
assessment of: whether the accounting policies
are appropriate to the Northern Ireland Council for
the Curriculum, Examinations and Assessment’s
circumstances and have been consistently applied
and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by the Northern
Ireland Council for the Curriculum, Examinations
and Assessment; and the overall presentation of the
financial statements. In addition I read all the financial
and non-financial information in the Annual Report
to identify material inconsistencies with the audited
financial statements. If I become aware of any apparent
material misstatements or inconsistencies I consider
the implications for my certificate.
In addition, I am required to obtain evidence sufficient
to give reasonable assurance that the expenditure and
income reported in the financial statements have been
applied to the purposes intended by the Assembly and
the financial transactions conform to the authorities
which govern them.
Opinion on Regularity
In my opinion, in all material respects the expenditure
and income have been applied to the purposes intended
by the Assembly and the financial transactions conform
to the authorities which govern them.
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Opinion on financial statements

Matters on which I report by exception

In my opinion:
•
the financial statements give a true and
fair view, of the state of Northern Ireland
Council for the Curriculum, Examinations
and Assessment‘s affairs as at 31 March 2010
and of its net expenditure, cash flows and
changes in taxpayers’ equity for the year then
ended; and
•
the financial statements have been properly
prepared in accordance with Schedule 3 of
the Education (Northern Ireland) Order 1998
and Department of Education directions
issued thereunder.

I have nothing to report in respect of the following
matters which I report to you if, in my opinion:
•
adequate accounting records have not been kept;
or
•
the financial statements and the part of the
Remuneration Report to be audited are not in
agreement with the accounting records; or
•
I have not received all of the information and
explanations I require for my audit; or
•
the Statement on Internal Control does not reflect
compliance with Department of Finance and
Personnel’s guidance.

Opinion on other matters
In my opinion:
•
the part of the Remuneration Report to
be audited has been properly prepared in
accordance with Department of Education
directions issued under Schedule 3 of the
Education (Northern Ireland) Order 1998; and
•
the information given in the Financial
Summary for the financial year for which
the financial statements are prepared is
consistent with the financial statements.

KJ Donnelly
Comptroller and Auditor General
Northern Ireland Audit Office
106 University Street
Belfast
BT7 IEU
24thJune 2011
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Net Expenditure
Account
Net
Expenditure
Account
Year ended 31 March 2010
2010

2009

2010

Notes

£

£

£

£

Expenditure
Staff costs
Other expenditure
Depreciation charge for year
Amortisation charge for year

5
7
8
9

Expenditure for the year

13,340,913
16,948,973
439,199
65,536

12,276,723
17,582,255
367,038
57,047
30,794,621

30,283,063

9,402,343

9,133,398

21,392,278

21,149,665

477,000
21,869,278
(320,556)
21,548,722

101,000
21,250,665
(100,030)
21,150,635

320,556

100,030

21,869,278

21,250,665

Income
Income from activities

4

Net expenditure
Other finance charge
Expenditure before cost of capital charge
Cost of capital charge
Expenditure after cost of capital charge
Reversing credit in respect of cost of
capital charge
Net expenditure after cost of capital charge
and other finance charge

10
11
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Statement of Financial Position
At 31 March 2010

		
2010
2009
2008
Notes		£
£
£
£
£
£
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
8
659,249		 815,199		858,224
Intangible assets
9
43,357		 100,093		113,224
Total non-current assets			
702,606		 915,292		971,448
Current assets
Inventories
12
32,651		 47,591		195,344
Trade and other receivables
13
2,452,157		 2,185,268		2,759,643
Cash and cash equivalents
14
8,169		
575,001 2,807,860
160,234
Total current assets			
2,492,977				3,115,221
Total assets			

3,195,583		 3,723,152		4,086,669

Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables
15 (1,494,668)		 (1,391,421)		(2,751,932)
Total current liabilities		
(1,494,668)		 (1,391,421)		(2,751,932)
Non-current assets plus net		
current assets		
1,700,915		 2,331,731		1,334,737
Non-current liabilities
Provisions
16
(815,000)		 (748,241)		(785,013)
Pension liabilities
6b (15,115,663)		 (5,671,219)		(2,178,001)
Total non-current liabilities			 (15,930,663)		
(6,419,460)		(2,963,014)
Assets less liabilities		 (14,229,748)		 (4,087,729)		(1,628,277)
Reserves
Capital reserve
19
-		
-		
37,030
Revaluation reserve
20
(62,167)		 (139,483)		(122,707)
General reserve
21 (14,167,581)		 (3,948,246)		(1,542,600)
				(14,229,748)		 (4,087,729)		(1,628,277)

Helen McClenaghan		
Vice Chairperson

Date

Gavin Boyd		
Interim Chief Executive		

Date
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Statement of Cash Flows
at 31 March 2010

		
Notes

2010
£

Cash flows from operating activities			
Net expenditure after cost of capital charge and other finance charge
(21,869,278)
Adjusted for:
Depreciation 		
439,199
Amortisation 		
65,536
Bad debt provision 		
(13,256)
Bad debts written off 		
4,895
IAS 19 pension costs 		
259,444
Decrease in inventories 		
14,940
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables 		
(258,528)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 		
103,247
Decrease in provisions 		
(15,241)
Net cash outflow from operating activities 		
(21,269,042)
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 		
(214,732)
Purchase of intangible assets 		
Net cash outflow from investing activities 		
(214,732)

2009
£

(21,250,665)
367,038
57,047
(10,796)
3,414
(164,574)
147,753
581,756
(1,360,511)
(10,772)
(21,640,310)

(337,329)
(47,583)
(384,912)

Cash flows from financing activities
Recurrent grant received 		
20,731,527
22,055,000
Capital grants received 		
185,415
384,989
Net financing 		
20,916,942
22,439,989
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents in the period 		

(566,832)

414,767

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April 2009

14

575,001

160,234

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 2010

14

8,169

575,001
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Statement of Changes in
Taxpayers’ Equity
Year ended 31 March 2010
		 General
			
Fund
		
Notes
£
Balance at 1 April 2008
21
Changes in reserves 2008/09
Deficit for year from net expenditure account		
Net (loss) on revaluation of property, plant and
equipment
8
Net (loss) on revaluation of intangible assets
9
Actuarial loss in respect of pension liability
6b
Transfers between reserves
19
Total recognised income and expense
for 2008/09		

Capital
Reserve
£

Revaluation
Reserve
£

Total
Reserves
£

(1,542,600)

37,030

(122,707)

(1,628,277)

(21,250,665)

-

-

(21,250,665)

(13,109)
(3,667)
-		
(37,030)
-

(13,109)
(3,667)
(3,632,000)
-

(3,632,000)
37,030

(26,388,235)

-

(139,483)

(26,527,718)

21
21

22,055,000
384,989

-

-

22,055,000
384,989

Balance at 31 March 2009		

(3,948,246)

-

(139,483)

(4,087,729)

(21,869,278)

-

-

(21,869,278)

(9,267,000)

-

68,516
8,800
-

68,516
8,800
(9,267,000)

(35,084,524)

-

(62,167)

(35,146,691)

20,731,527
185,416

-

-

20,731,527
185,416

(14,167,581)

-

(62,167)

(14,229,748)

Recurrent funding
Capital funding

Changes in reserves and taxpayers
equity 2009/10
Deficit for year from net expenditure account		
Net gain on revaluation of property, plant and
equipment
8
Net gain on revaluation of intangible assets
9
Actuarial loss in respect of pension liability
6b
Total recognised income and expense
for 2009/10
Recurrent funding
Capital funding
Balance at 31 March 2010

21
21
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Notes to the Financial
Statements
Year ended 31 March 2010
1

STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 2009/10 Government Financial Reporting Manual
(FReM) issued by the Department of Finance and Personnel (DFP). The accounting policies contained in the FReM
apply International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adapted or interpreted for the public sector context. Where
the FReM permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the
particular circumstances of the Council for the Curriculum, Examinations and Assessment (CCEA) for the purpose
of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular accounting policies which have been adopted in the
preparation of these financial statements are detailed below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items
that are considered material to the accounts.
The Council has reviewed the standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that became effective
during 2009/10 and which are relevant to its operations. The Council anticipates that the adoption of these standards
will have no material impact on its financial position or results of operations.
Certain new standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards have been published that are mandatory
for the Council’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2010, but which the Council has not adopted early.
The Council does not anticipate that the adoption of these standards will have a material impact on its accounts in the
period of initial application.

1.1

Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention, modified by the revaluation of fixed assets,
and, where material, inventory to fair value as determined by the relevant accounting standard. Without limiting the
information given, the financial statements comply with the accounting and disclosure requirements of the Companies
(Northern Ireland) Order 1986, accounting standards issued or adopted by the International Accounting Standards
Board and the accounting and disclosure requirements issued by DFP in so far as those requirements are appropriate.
These accounts have been prepared in pounds sterling.

1.2

Recognition of Income and Funding

1.2.1 Government Grants
The main source of funding for CCEA is allocations (grants in aid) from the Department of Education (DE). All grants
in aid, whether for revenue or capital purposes, are treated as contributions from controlling parties, giving rise
to a financial interest in the residual interest of CCEA, and are credited to the general reserve. The grant in aid is
recognised in the financial period in which the cash is received.
1.2.2 Revenue Grants
Grants for revenue purposes that are received to finance the purchase of specific goods or services are shown as
income in the net expenditure account. In these cases income is set to match with the related expenditure incurred
during the period. CCEA did not receive any revenue grants in the financial year.
1.2.3 Examination Fee Income
Examination fee income is recorded in the net expenditure account in the financial period in which the examination
takes place.
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1.3

Property, Plant and Equipment
Items of property, plant and equipment which are held for use on a continuing basis in delivering the reporting entity’s
activities, and which yield a benefit for a period of more than one year, are capitalised at their cost of acquisition and
installation. The level for capitalisation as an individual item of property, plant and equipment has been applied for the
current year at £3,000. Prior to 1 April 2009 the level for capitalisation was £1500, applied to both individual or grouped
items of property, plant and equipment.
CCEA does not own any land or buildings.

1.4

Intangible Assets
Intangible assets are non-financial fixed assets that do not have physical substance but are identifiable and are
controlled by CCEA through custody or legal rights. Intangible fixed assets are capitalised and stated in the statement
of financial position at fair value (amortised cost less any accumulated impairment losses). The level for capitalisation
as an individual intangible asset has been applied for the current year at £3,000. Prior to 1 April 2009 the level for
capitalisation was £1,500, applied to both individual or grouped items of intangible assets.

1.5

Depreciation
Depreciation is provided on all property, plant and equipment from the month they are brought into service. In order to
write off the value, less estimated residual value of each asset, items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated
on a straight line basis over their expected useful lives or lease period if shorter.
Lives of assets, which are reviewed regularly, are as follows:
Computer hardware
–
3 years
Computer software 		
–
3 years
Office equipment 		
–
7 years
Fixtures and fittings
–
10 years
Plant and machinery
–
15 years
Prior to 1 April 2009 all items of property plant and equipment were depreciated on a straight line basis over a useful
life of 4 years.

1.6

Amortisation
Amortisation is provided on software licences from the month they are brought into service. In order to write off the
value, less estimated residual value of each asset, software licences are amortised on a straight line basis over their
expected useful lives. In line with the computer software to which they relate, software licences are deemed to have
useful lives of 3 years.
Prior to 1 April 2009 all intangible assets were amortised on a straight line basis over a useful life of 4 years.

1.7

Finance and Operating Leases
Leases are classified as either a finance lease or an operating lease depending on the substance of the agreement.
A finance lease is a lease that transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset.
Finance leases are treated as if the asset had been purchased outright. The related assets are included in non
current assets, and the capital element of the leasing commitments is shown as obligations under finance leases.
The lease rentals are treated as consisting of capital and interest elements. The capital element is applied to reduce
the outstanding obligations, and the interest element is charged against income in proportion to the reducing capital
element outstanding. Assets held under finance lease are depreciated over the useful lives of equivalent owned assets.
CCEA does not have any lease agreements that are classified as a finance lease.
An operating lease is a lease other than a finance lease. Rental payments in respect of assets held under operating
leases are charged to the net expenditure account as incurred. Commitments under operating leases are shown in
Note 17 to the financial statements.

1.8

Inventories
Inventories are stated at fair value, which is the lower of cost and net realisable value. Where necessary, provision is
made for obsolete, slow moving and defective stocks.
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1.9

Work in Progress
Work in progress represents the estimated value of work commenced, but not invoiced, in respect of projects being
undertaken by the Multimedia Unit.

1.10

Employee Benefits
The cost of providing employee benefits is recorded in the net expenditure account in the period in which the benefit
is earned by the employee, rather than when it is paid or payable. This is applicable to both short term and long term
benefits.

1.11

Pensions
CCEA participates in the following two pension schemes:

1.11.1 The Teachers’ Superannuation Scheme (TSS)
The Teachers’ Superannuation Scheme is an unfunded contributory scheme administered by the Department of
Education (DE). The conditions of the Superannuation (NI) Order 1972, the Teachers’ Superannuation Regulations (NI)
1977 and subsequent amendments apply to the scheme. The scheme is presently notionally funded.
The rate of the employer’s contribution is determined from time to time by the Government actuary and advised by DFP.
The TSS is a multi-employer scheme, and CCEA is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities of
the scheme on a consistent and reasonable basis. The TSS is therefore treated as a defined contribution scheme and
the contributions recognised as they are paid each year. The scheme is administered by the Department of Education,
Rathgael house, Balloo Road, Bangor.
1.11.2 The Northern Ireland Local Government Officers’ Superannuation Committee Scheme (NILGOSC)
The Northern Ireland Local Government Officers’ Superannuation Committee Scheme is of the defined benefits type,
the assets of the scheme being held in separate trustee administered funds. CCEA’s contribution to NILGOSC scheme
is determined by the fund’s actuary based on a triennial valuation. The scheme is administered by NILGOSC, Holywood
Road, Belfast.
The pension costs are assessed in accordance with the advice of independent qualified actuaries using the projected
unit method and are accounted for on the basis of charging the cost of providing pensions over the period during
which CCEA benefits from the employee’s services. Variations from regular cost are spread over the expected average
remaining working lives of members of the scheme after making allowances for future withdrawals.
The difference between the fair value of the assets held in CCEA’s defined benefit pension scheme and the scheme’s
liabilities measured on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method is recognised in CCEA’s statement of
financial position as a pension scheme asset or liability as appropriate.
In accordance with IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’, the in year movement in the defined benefit pension scheme asset or
liability arising from factors other than cash contribution by CCEA is charged to the net expenditure account or the
statement of changes in Taxpayers’ Equity.
1.12

Taxation
CCEA is exempt from corporation tax on income it receives.
A small part of the activities of CCEA, mainly those associated with the Multimedia Unit, falls within the scope of VAT.
With the exception of expenditure directly related to these activities, VAT is not reclaimable by CCEA and so, in these
cases, expenditure in the accounts is inclusive of VAT.
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1.13

Capital Charge
In accordance with DFP guidelines, notional interest is charged on the basis of 3.5% of the average value of capital
employed by CCEA less interest already paid. Capital employed is defined as total assets less total liabilities.

1.14

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when CCEA has a present obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that CCEA will
be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the statement of financial position date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.
Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is
the present value of those cash flows.

1.15

Foreign Currency Transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded using the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates of exchange ruling at the
end of the financial period, with all resulting exchange differences being taken to the net expenditure account in the
period in which they arise.

1.16 Early Departure Costs
Although the Local Government (Compensation for Premature Retirement) Regulations (Northern Ireland) 1983 do not
apply to CCEA, these regulations have been agreed with the recognised trade union as an acceptable basis to allow CCEA
to have the discretion to make provision for premature retirement of officers who cease to hold their employment by
reason of redundancy or in the efficient discharge of their employee’s functions.
Lump sum payments (if any) during the year, and a statement of continuing liability, are disclosed in Note 6 to the
financial statements. The accounting practice is to provide for the full cost of early departure of employees in the net
expenditure account based on actuarial tables.
1.17 Reserves
The General Reserve balance represents the total assets less total liabilities of CCEA to the extent that the total is not
represented by the Revaluation Reserve.
The Revaluation Reserve reflects the unrealised element of the cumulative balance of indexation and revaluation
adjustments.
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2

FIRST-TIME ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRS)

2.1 Financial Position
The impact of the introduction of IFRS on the published financial position at 31 March 2009 of CCEA is as
follows:
i
		
		
		

Reconciliation of UK GAAP reported total reserves to IFRS at the date of transition 1 April 2008
General
Reserve
£

Revaluation
Reserve
£

Capital
Reserve
£

Total
Reserve
£

Total reserves at 31 March 2008 under UK GAAP		1,358,759
Adjustments for:
IAS 19 Employee benefits		 183,841

122,707

(37,030)

1,444,436

-

-

183,841

Total reserves at 1 April 2008 under IFRS		1,542,600

122,707

(37,030)

1,628,277

ii

		
		
		

Reconciliation of GAAP reported taxpayers’ equity to IFRS at the end of final UK GAAP reporting period
31 March 2009
General
Reserve
£

Revaluation
Reserve
£

Capital
Reserve
£

Total
Reserve
£

Total reserves at 31 March 2009 under UK GAAP		3,948,246
Adjustments for:
IAS 19 Employee benefits		
-

139,483

-

4,087,729

-

-

-

Total reserves at 1 April 2009 under IFRS		3,948,246

139,483

-

4,087,729

iii
Reconciliation of UK GAAP reported net operating cost to IFRS for year ended 31 March 2009
						
£
Net operating cost for 2008-09 under UK GAAP					
21,434,506
Adjustments for:
IAS 19 Employee benefits					
(183,841)
Net operating costs for 2008-09 under IFRS					

21,250,665

The introduction of IFRS had no impact on the published financial position of CCEA at 31 March 2010.
Management has reviewed new accounting standards that have been issued but are not yet effective, nor
adopted early for these accounts. Management consider that these are unlikely to have a significant impact
on the accounts in the period of initial application.
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2.2

Cash Flows
There was no change to the value of cash equivalents held by CCEA as a result of the introduction of IFRS.

3

SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS
CCEA’s financial performance is organised and managed at directorate level. The chief operating decision
maker in CCEA is the Top Management Team (TMT) made up of the Acting Chief Executive Officer, Director of
Qualifications, Director of Education Strategy, Director of Corporate Services and Chief Finance Officer. Monthly
financial reports detailing directorate revenue, expenditure and capital expenditure against budget and prior
year are provided to TMT and Business Managers. Information on directorate liabilities is not separately identified. The
five directorates operating in the 2009/10 financial year are Chief Executive, Corporate Services, Education Strategy,
Qualifications and Financial Services.
Chief Executive
This directorate consists of the administrative support for the Chief Executive’s Office and Council and
the independent regulatory functions.
Corporate Services
In support of all CCEA’s activities, this directorate provides independent advice and management in ICT,
Multimedia, People Services, Marketing & Communications, Facilities Management and Business Assurance.
Education Strategy
CCEA researches and trials policy on behalf of the Department and provides support material for curriculum
implementation. This directorate is also currently responsible for the development and implementation of the
assessment and reporting arrangements for ages 4 to 14.
Qualifications
CCEA provides examinations for 25 GCE subjects and 44 GCSE subjects, Key Skills, Essential Skills, Occupational
Skills and a range of other vocational qualifications. This directorate was also responsible for the revision of GCE and
GCSE specifications rolled out for first teaching in 2008 and 2009 respectively. The directorate is focusing on developing
additional vocational qualifications to provide schools with the options to allow them to meet the Department’s 2013
Entitlement Framework commitments.
Financial Services
This directorate is responsible for financial and management reporting, budgeting, payroll, trade receivables/payables
and purchasing.
CCEA’s financial position at the year ended 31 March 2010 is analysed between directorates as follows:
Chief
Executive
£(000’s)

Education
Strategy
£(000’s)

Qualifications
£(000’s)

Corporate
Services
£(000’s)

Financial
Services
£(000’s)

Unallocated

Total

£(000’s)

£(000’s)

Expenditure

2,352

6,225

15,635

6,485

574

–

31,271

Income

(801)

(133)

(8,385)

(83)

–

–

(9,402)

Net expenditure before financing

1,551

6,092

7,250

6,402

574

–

21,869

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

51
3

106
7

327
21

152
10

24
2

-

660
43

Total non-current assets

54

113

348

162

26

-

703

–
–
–

–
–
–

33
862
–

–
–
–

–
–
8

–
1,590
–

33
2,452
8

Non-current assets

Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets
Total assets

–

–

895

–

8

1,590

2,493

54

113

1,243

162

34

1,590

3,196

Unallocated trade and other receivables include other debtors and prepayments, and deferred income.

Northern Ireland Council for the Curriculum,
Examinations and Assessment
Annual Report and Accounts 2009/10

4

INCOME
INCOME FROM ACTIVITIES
Research and development
Examination fees
Other activities
Income from activities is shown net of Value Added Tax (VAT)

5

2010

2009

£
37,104
8,317,083
1,048,156
9,402,343

£
17,255
7,986,922
1,129,221
9,133,398

2010
£
5
258
47
110
420

2009
£
5
265
58
77
405

2010
£
7,947,934
752,460
2,605,527
878,330
1,156,662
13,340,913

2009
£
7,864,676
854,729
1,818,092
818,389
920,837
12,276,723

STAFF COSTS

The average number of employees during the year was as follows:
		
Senior management
Direct employees
Temporary staff
Contract staff
		
The costs incurred in respect of employees were:
		
Gross salaries;
Direct employees
Temporary staff
Contract staff
Social security costs
Pension costs
		
6

PENSION COMMITMENTS

6.1

a) Teachers’ Superannuation Scheme
63 employees of CCEA are members of the Teachers’ Superannuation Scheme, which is a contributory
scheme administered by the Department of Education (DE). The conditions of the Superannuation (NI)
Order 1972, the Teachers’ Superannuation Regulations (NI) 1977 and subsequent amendments apply to the
scheme. The scheme is presently notionally funded. The rate of the employer’s contribution is determined
from time to time by the Government Actuary and advised by the Department of Finance and Personnel
(DFP).
For 2009/10, the contribution rates were 13.6% employers and 6.4% employees.

Contributions for the year:
		
Employers
Employees
Total

2010
£
366,600
172,517
539,117

2009
£
373,783
176,457
550,240

b) Northern Ireland Local Government Officers’ Superannuation Committee Scheme
CCEA participates in the Northern Ireland Local Government Officers’ Superannuation Committee Scheme
(the NILGOSC scheme) for 218 of its employees. The NILGOSC scheme is a “multi-employer”, defined
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benefit scheme, which provides members of participating employers with the benefits related to pay and
services at rates which are defined under statutory regulations. To finance these benefits, assets are
accumulated in the scheme and are held separately from the assets of the employers. The scheme is
funded by employers participating in the NILGOSC scheme who pay contributions at rates determined by an
independent, professionally qualified actuary on the basis of regular valuations using the projected unit
method. The results of the most recent valuation, which was conducted at 31 March 2007, were as follows:
Main assumptions –
Rate of return on investments per annum
Rate of general increase in salaries per annum
Rate of pension increases per annum

6.10%
4.70%		
3.20%

Market value of scheme’s assets

£3.163 billion

Level of funding being the actuarial value of assets expressed as a percentage
of the benefits accrued to members, deferred pensioners and members based
on past service and after allowing for future salary increase

89.1%

In April 2009, NILGOSC introduced a banding scheme for employee contribution rates, based on
pensionable pay. These rates are as follows:
Band
1
2
3
4
5
6
7

Range (£)
0–12,600
12,601–14,700
14,701–18,900
18,901–31,500
31,501–42,000
42,001–78,700
more than 78,701

Contribution Rates
5.5%
5.8%
5.9%
6.5%
6.8%
7.2%
7.5%

In 2009/10, the employer’s contribution rate was 16%.
The surplus is being amortised over the average remaining service life of the current membership, a period
of approximately 9 years.
Contributions for the year:
		
Employers
Employees
Total

2010
£
924,965
383,535
1,308,500

2009
£
793,183
321,392
1,114,575
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The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position are as follows:
		
		

2010
£(000’s)

2009
£(000’s)

Present value of funded liabilities
Fair value of plan assets
Net (under)/overfunding in funded plans
Present value of unfunded obligations
Net liability
Amounts in the statement of financial position
Liabilities
Assets
Net liability

(37,375)
22,259
(15,116)
(815)
(15,931)

(20,720)
15,049
(5,671)
(748)
(6,419)

15,931
15,931

(6,419)
(6,419)

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows:
		
		
2010
2009
		
£(000’s)
£(000’s)
Opening defined benefit obligation
Current service cost
Interest cost
Contributions by members
Actuarial gains
Estimated unfunded benefits paid
Past service costs
Estimated benefits paid
Closing defined benefit obligation

21,453
520
1,496
380
14,771
(41)
230
(619)
38,190

21,960
568
1,525
318
(2,310)
(47)
–
(561)
21,453

Changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows:
		
2010
		
£(000’s)

2009
£(000’s)

Opening fair value of employer assets
Expected return on assets
Contributions by members
Contributions by employer
Contributions in respect of unfunded benefits
Actuarial losses
Unfunded benefits paid
Benefits paid
		

15,049
1,019
380
925
42
5,504
(41)
(619)
22,259

19,023
1,424
318
793
41
(5,942)
(47)
(561)
15,049
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As a result of the full actuarial valuation at 31 March 2007, employer contributions of 17% are to be made in
2010/11 in order to reduce the deficiency of the scheme. The major categories of plan assets as a percentage of
total plan assets are as follows:
		
		
Equities
Bonds
Properties
Cash

2010
%
77%
14%
6%
3%

2009
%
73%
14%
7%
6%

Principal actuarial assumptions at the statement of financial position date (expressed as weighted averages):
		
		
2010
2009
		
%
%
Discount rate
5.5%
6.9%
Expected return on plan assets
7.2%
6.5%
Future salary increases
5.3%
4.6%
Future pension increases
3.8%
3.1%
Amounts for the current and previous four periods are as follows:
		
2010
2009
		
£ (000’s) £ (000’s)
Fair value of employer assets
22,259
15,049
Present value of defined benefit obligation
(38,190)
(21,468)
Deficit
(15,931)
(6,419)
Experience adjustments on plan assets
5,504
(5,942)
Experience adjustments on plan liabilities
82
(10)
Actuarial gains/(losses) on employer assets
5,504
(5,942)
Actuarial (losses)/gains on obligation
(14,771)
2,310
Actuarial gains/(losses) recognised in statement
of changes in reserves
9,267
(3,632)

2008
£ (000’s)
19,023
(21,986)
(2,963)
(2,058)
964
(2,058)
5,495

2007
£ (000’s)
19,381
(25,555)
(6,174)
(218)
(809)
(218)
(4,155)

2006
£ (000’s)
18,100
(19,600)
(1,500)
2,707
(60)
2707
(2,394)

3,437

(4,373)

313

6.2 Early Departure Costs
		
Lump sum payments during the year relating to early departures amounted to £10,535 (2009 £nil). However, this
payment had been included in provisions since 2007-08.
Annual costs relating to early departures in previous years that are met by CCEA currently amount to £42,591.
These annual costs will continue in line with pension payments and are index linked.

Provision for liabilities and charges

2010
£
815,000

2009
£
733,000

Full provision has been made for the best estimate of the expected total liability of CCEA in relation to
early departures during the current year and previous years.
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EXPENDITURE

Chairperson's honorarium
Council and main committee expenses
Examiners and other fees and expenses

2010

2009

£

£

16,680

16,680

2,593

2,797

6,457,849

6,137,527

Heat and light

185,792

206,737

Cleaning and other services

192,860

158,120

1,466,425

1,471,445

Rent and rates
Repairs and renewals – premises

24,255

21,771

Repairs and renewals – machinery and equipment

221,672

225,340

Rental, leasing and hire purchase of equipment

188,103

167,647

Audit fee

22,907

25,186

1,260,780

1,623,894

Hire of accommodation and equipment

186,950

202,412

Catering

418,291

428,534

Cost of saleable materials

113,134

95,745

12,257

58,427

Transport and travel

266,305

280,672

Carriage

431,365

447,732

2,122,002

2,615,246

333,082

383,088

43,620

42,627

Conferences and exhibitions

166,846

157,078

Training and health and safety

266,619

283,806

59,672

45,936

–

4,864

Professional charges

Project costs

Advertising, printing and stationery
Telephone and postage
Insurance and risk management

Inter-Board activities
Research and development
Substitute teachers

2,274,445

2,385,186

Minor fixed assets (under £3,000)

141,929

4,993

Bad debts provision

(13,256)

(10,796)

4,897

3,414

–

205

80,899

95,942

16,948,973

17,582,255

Bad debts written off
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Miscellaneous

During the year CCEA purchased the following non-audit services from its auditor, the
Northern Ireland Audit Office:

National Fraud Initiative

2010

2009

£

£

-

3,385

55

341,790

At 31 March 2010

14,270

51,528

632,202
12,318
48,299
(350,325)
342,494

300,157

257,367

1,085,143
6,101
31,722
(67,626)
1,055,340

1,342,510
8,065
72,548
(67,626)
1,355,497

Office
Furniture &
Equipment
£

3,032

3,160

26,381

–

26,043
93
245

29,413

–
–

659,249

815,199

3,016,496
91,542
439,199
(749,226)
2,798,011

3,831,696
160,058
214,732
(749,226)
3,457,260

£

£

29,203
210

TOTAL

Plant &
Machinery

Property, plant and equipment have been revalued at 31 March 2010 using the indices from the Office for National Statistics, and the overall surplus of £68,516
(2009: deficit of £13,109) after depreciation was transferred to the revaluation reserve. All tangible assets were owned by CCEA at 31 March 2010.

Property, plant and equipment have been revalued at 31 March 2010 using the indices from the Offices for National Statistics, and the overall gain of £68,516 (2009:
loss of £13,109) after depreciation was transferred to the revaluation reserve. All tangible assets were owned by CCEA at 31 March 2010.

503,145

1,273,108
73,030
358,933
(331,275)
1,373,796

683,730
19,112
4,247
(350,325)
356,764

£

£

1,776,253
132,671
137,937
(331,275)
1,715,586

Computer
Software

Computer
Hardware

At 31 March 2009

NET BOOK VALUE

At 1 April 2009
Indexation
Charge to income and expenditure
Depreciation eliminated on disposal
At 31 March 2010

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

At 1 April 2009
Indexation
Additions
Disposals
At 31 March 2010

COST
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4,790
3,160

257,366

51,528

503,145

At 31 March 2009

24,182
(120)
1,981
–
26,043

218,060

955,208
35,704
94,232
–
1,085,144

815,199

858,224

2,639,818
22,549
367,038
(12,908)
3,016,497

3,498,042
9,440
337,329
(13,115)
3,831,696

£

£
28,972
(229)
460
–
29,203

TOTAL

Plant &
Machinery

94,934

591,337
(3,836)
44,701
–
632,202

1,173,268
44,143
125,099
–
1,342,510

Office
Furniture &
Equipment
£

540,440

1,069,091
(9,199)
226,124
(12,908)
1,273,108

686,271
(6,749)
4,208
–
683,730

£

£
1,609,531
(27,725)
207,562
(13,115)
1,776,253

Computer
Software

Computer
Hardware

NET BOOK VALUE
At 31 March 2008

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
At 1 April 2008
Indexation
Charge to income and expenditure
Depreciation eliminated on disposals
At 31 March 2009

At 31 March 2009

VALUATION
At 1 April 2008
Indexation
Additions
Disposals

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 2008/09

Property, plant and equipment have been revalued at 31 March 2009 using the indices from the Office for National Statistics, and the overall deficit of £13,109
after depreciation was transferred to the revaluation reserve. All tangible assets were owned by CCEA at 31 March 2009.
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9

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 2009/10

Software
Licences

£

COST
At 1 April 2009
Additions
Indexation
At 31 March 2010

313,863
0
23,347
337,210

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
At 1 April 2009
Indexation
Charge for year
At 31 March 2010

213,770
14,547
65,536
293,853

NET BOOK VALUE
At 31 March 2009

100,093

At 31 March 2010

43,357

Intangible fixed assets have been revalued at 31 March 2010 using the indices from the Office for National Statistics
and the overall gain of £8,800 (2009 loss of £3,667) after depreciation was transferred to the revaluation reserve.
All intangible assets were owned by CCEA at 31 March 2010.
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 2008/09

Software
Licences

£

VALUATION
At 1 April 2008
Additions
Indexation
At 31 March 2009

273,321
47,583
(7,041)
313,863

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
At 1 April 2008
Indexation
Charge for year
At 31 March 2009

160,097
(3,374)
57,047
213,770

NET BOOK VALUE
At 31 March 2008

113,224

At 31 March 2009

100,093

Northern
for the Curriculum,
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OTHER FINANCE COSTS

2009

£

£

Expected loss on NILGOSC pension scheme assets

477,000
477,000

101,000
101,000

NOTIONAL COSTS

2010

2009

£

£

Cost of capital charge

12

2010

INVENTORIES

Work in progress
Paper
Question papers

(320,556)
(320,556)

(100,030)
(100,030)

2010

2009

2008

£

£

£

6,543
26,108
32,651

1,331
11,446
182,567
195,344

5,273
42,318
47,591

The reduction in Question Paper inventory relates to CCEA’s decision to allow the public to download
a wide range of past papers online without charge. This is in line with CCEA’s strategic aim of
delivering 95% of products and services electronically and ties in with the current transition to new
GCE and GCSE specifications.
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TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR

2010

2009

2008

£

£

£

Trade receivables
Other receivables
Prepayments and accrued income

862,538
17,926
1,571,693
2,452,157

726,197
4,382
1,454,689
2,185,268

1,032,672
1,470
1,725,501
2,759,643

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2010

2009

2008

£

£

£

160,234
414,767
575,001

24,433
135,801
160,234

Balance at 1 April 2009
Net change in year
Balance at 31 March 2010

The following balances at 31 March were held at
commercial banks and cash in hand

575,001
(566,832)
8,169

2010

2009

2008

8,169

575,001

160,234

£

£

£

57
59

60

Northern Ireland Council for the Curriculum,
Annual Report and Accounts 2009/2010
58Examinations
and Assessment
Annual Report and Accounts 2009/10

15

TRADE PAYABLES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES FALLING
DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR

Trade payables
Taxes and social security
Other payables
VAT
Accruals and deferred income

16

2010

2009

2008

£

£

£

129,556
10
15,770
12,125
1,337,207
1,494,668

2,604
159,640
25,519
6,337
1,197,321
1,391,421

12,964
120,071
32,735
15,232
2,570,930
2,751,932

PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES

Unfunded pension
liability provision

Restructuring
provision

733,000
82,000

15,241

–
–

(4,706)
(10,535)

815,000

–

748,241
82,000
(4,706)
(10,535)
815,000

116,545
271,395
427,060
815,000

–
–
–
–

116,545
271,395
427,060
815,000

£

Balance at 1 April 2009
Provided in the year
Provisions not required written back
Provisions utilised in the year
Balance at 31 March 2010

£

–

Total

£

Analysis of expected timing of discounted flows:
Between 1 April 2010 and 31 March 2015
Between 1 April 2015 and 31 March 2020
Thereafter

Unfunded pension liability provision
Full provision has been made for the total liability of CCEA in relation to early departures during the current
year and previous years as calculated by the actuaries of the plan, Hymans Robertson LLP. Annual costs
relating to early departures are offset against fluctations in the pension liability.
Restructuring provision
The restructuring of education services was completed in year.

Northern Ireland Council for the Curriculum,
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LEASE COMMITMENTS
OPERATING LEASES
Total future minimum lease payments under operating leases are given below for each of the
following periods:

Obligations under operating leases comprise:
Buildings
Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years
Later than five years

Other
Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years
Later than five years
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DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION GRANT-IN-AID

Salaries grant-in-aid
Recurrent grant-in-aid
Substitute teachers grant-in-aid

Capital grant-in-aid

2010

2009

2008

£

£

£

977,365
3,196,705
4,193,281
8,367,351

961,769
3,503,145
4,864,206
9,329,120

958,565
3,734,385
5,535,131
10,228,081

80,142
95,792
–
175,934

75,602
11,787
–
87,389

126,947
31,456
–
158,403

2010

2009

2008

£

£

£

13,210,206

12,324,000

11,759,453

5,286,776

7,857,975

7,558,842

2,234,545

1,873,025

2,090,705

20,731,527

22,055,000

21,409,000

185,415

384,989
22,439,989

21,903,947

20,916,942
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CAPITAL ACCOUNT – DE

At 1 April 2009
Capital grant account
Transfer to general fund reserve
At 31 March 2010

494,947

2010

2009

2008

£

£

£

–
–
–
–
–

37,030
384,989
422,019
(422,019)
–

To assist in the process of incorporation of the education bodies into ESA, DENI recommended that
the capital balance be transferred to the general fund in 2008/09.

36,593
494,947
531,540
(494,510)
37,030

59
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REVALUATION RESERVE

2009

2008

£

£

£

At 1 April 2009
Indexation
At 31 March 2010

(139,483)
77,316
(62,167)

(122,707)
(16,776)
(139,483)

(101,092)
(21,615)
(122,707)

GENERAL RESERVE

2010

2009

2008

£

£

£

At 1 April 2009
Operating cost for the year
Actuarial (loss)/gain
Movement in revenue grant-in-aid to general reserves
Movement in capital grant-in-aid to general reserves
Movement in capital account to general reserves
At 31 March 2010
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2010

(3,948,246)
(21,869,278)
(9,267,000)
20,731,527
185,416
(14,167,581)

(1,542,600)
(21,250,665)
(3,632,000)
22,055,000
384,989
37,030
(3,948,246)

OTHER FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS
CCEA has entered into non-cancellable contracts (which are not leases or PFI contracts), for items
of property, plant and equipment. The payments to which CCEA is commited during 2009/10,
analysed by the period during which the commitment expires, are as follows:

2010

2009

–

20,720

£

Not later than one year

£

(5,068,450)
(21,860,646)
3,482,986
21,409,000
494,510
–
(1,542,600)

Northern Ireland Council for the Curriculum,
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RELATED PARTIES
CCEA is a non-departmental public body (NDPB), established by the Education and Libraries
(NI) Order 1993, which receives its core funding through grant-in-aid from DE.
DE is regarded as a related party. During the year, CCEA had a significant number of
material transactions with DE and with other entities for which DE is regarded as the parent
department, including:
• The Education and Library Boards
• Schools in Northern Ireland
• Colleges of Further Education in Northern Ireland
• Universities in Northern Ireland.
During the year, none of the board members, members of the key management staff, or
other related parties undertook any material transactions with CCEA.
A register of members’ interests is available and can be inspected on application to the Chief
Executive’s Office.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments
have had during the period in creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its
activities. As the cash requirements of CCEA are met through Grant-in-Aid provided
primarily by the Department of Education, financial instruments play a more limited role in
creating and merging risk than would apply to a non-public sector body.
Liquidity Risk
CCEA has no borrowings and relies primarily on grant-in-aid from DE and, therefore, is not
exposed to liquidity risks.
Foreign Currency Risk
As CCEA has no material deposits and all of its assets and liabilities are denominated in
sterling, there is no exposure to interest rate risk and foreign currency risk.
Interest Rate Risk
CCEA’s financial assets and liabilities carry nil or fixed rates of interest. CCEA is not,
therefore, exposed to significant interest rate risk.
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DATE AUTHORISED FOR ISSUE
The Council’s accounts were authorised on the 2nd June 2011 by the
CCEA Vice Chairperson and Interim Chief Executive, and authorised for issue by the
Northern Ireland Audit Office on the 24th June 2011.
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